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PROFILE

Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited (Rolfes or the Group) is a diversified manufacturing and 
technology holdings company listed on the Alternate Exchange of the JSE Limited. The Group has
demonstrated consistent growth through its subsidiaries and acquisitions, providing a wide range
of market-leading products to customers through dedicated teams of industry specialists in the 
silica, chemicals, pigments and pastes industries. 

PRODUCT AND MARKET SCOPE

Rolfes distributes approximately 340 products to more than 500 customers through its divisions
into various industries.

Rolfes Colour Pigments International manufactures organic and inorganic colour pigments and
pastes for the coatings, plastics, construction, ink, vinyl and leather industries. Resins and other
speciality chemicals are manufactured and distributed for the coatings, plastics and construction
industries through Rolfes Chemicals while Rolfes Silica manufactures and distributes pure 
beneficiated silica for the metallurgical, filtration and construction industries.

GEOGRAPHIC SCOPE 

Manufacturing plants are situated in Jet Park, Alberton North, Brits, Durban and Cape Town.

Products are distributed from the various manufacturing plants to customers in South Africa,
SADEC countries, Ghana, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Nigeria, Tanzania, Australia,
Europe and Asia.

CHANNEL SCOPE

Strong customer and supplier relationships, as well as positive brand perception and effective 
pricing strategies, contribute to Rolfes’ competitive edge. The newly established Rolfes Logistics will
allow improved control over the Group’s chemical distribution and render significant cost-savings.
The balance of the Group’s products is distributed through its own fleet as well as through 
external service providers.  
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2005 2006 2007 2008
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

FINANCIAL RESULTS
Revenue 100 423 164 003 224 727 314 898 
EBITDA 12 581 22 557 32 833 48 952
Operating profit 12 260 21 482 30 566 45 107 
Headline earnings 7 507 11 750 19 040 30 094
Total assets 55 336 94 797 140 987 230 605 
Total debt (interest-bearing liabilities and

bank overdraft) 9 695 34 202 17 754 33 634 

2005 2006 2007 2008
% % % %

RETURNS
Gross profit margin 24,1 21,5 23,5 22,5
Operating profit margin 12,2 13,1 13,6 14,3
Net profit margin (headline earnings) 7,5 7,2 8,5 9,4
Interest cover (times) 8,9 5,1 6,8 11,6

SOLVABILITY AND LIQUIDITY
Current ratio 2,1 1,2 1,7 1,7
Acid-test ratio 1,1 0,6 1,0 0,8
Interest-bearing debt: equity ratio 1,2 1,0 0,2 0,3

2005 2006 2007 2008
cents cents cents cents

PERFORMANCE PER SHARE
Fully diluted headline earnings 8,8 13,8 20,9 29,2
Earnings 8,8 17,1 20,9 28,8
Dividends declared and paid 2,5 2,8 2,2 –
Net asset value 29,2 44,2 78,0 109,1
Net tangible asset value 29,2 35,5 69,2 95,4

Relative share price performance

for the year ended 30 June 2008

July 07

Rolfes AltX All share

Aug 07 Sep 07 Oct 07 Nov 07 Dec 07 Jan 08 Feb 08 Mar 08 Apr 08 May 08 Jun 08



GRAPHICAL REPRESENTATION OF 
GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Revenue

R’million

Operating profit

R’million

Headline earnings

R’million

Fully diluted headline earnings 
per share

cents

Total assets Total interest-bearing debt
R’million R’million

for the year ended 30 June 2008
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2. 3.Bulelani T Ngcuka (54)
Non-executive Chairman
BProc (Fort Hare), LLB (Unisa), MA
(University of Webster)
Appointed: 5 April 2007

Bulelani is the Executive Chairman of
Vuwa Investments and the former
National Director of the National
Prosecuting Authority. He is one of
South Africa’s leading legal 
practitioners. He was admitted as an
attorney in 1980 and practised in his
own practice under the name Ngcuka
and Associates. During this time he
played a significant role in the United
Democratic Front. He was a member
of the ANC delegation to CODESA
and a leading player in the resultant
multi-party negotiations. His former
positions include leader of the ANC
preparatory delegation to Parliament,
an ANC Member of Parliament, a
Senator and Chief Whip of the ANC
in Senate. He also served on the
Constitutional Assembly and
Constitutional Committee, the Judicial
Service Commission and was Deputy
Chair of the National Council of
Provinces. He is also currently the
Chairman of Basil Read Construction
and serves on various boards, 
including Transnet, Growthpoint
Properties, Topfix Scaffolding and
Mutual & Federal. 

Erhard van der Merwe (46)
Chief Executive Officer
BCom (Hons) (Accounting) and CTA
(University of Johannesburg), MCom
(Business Management) (University of
Johannesburg), CA (SA)
Appointed: 1 February 2007

Erhard qualified during 1989 as 
a chartered accountant with
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. He
worked as a senior audit manager on
large national and international clients
until 1991, following which he was
seconded to the London office before
returning to Johannesburg during
1993. He spent a further four years
with PWC Corporate Finance as a
partner, and a further five years with
Bishop Corporate Finance completing
a number of local and international
due diligence, corporate advisory,
mergers and acquisitions, JSE and SRP
transactions and assignments. He
joined the Pinnacle and Rolfes Groups
during 2006, responsible for new
acquisitions and related operational
duties. He brings a wealth of business
and corporate finance experience in
the listed environment.

Lizette Lynch (42)
Financial Director
BCompt 
Appointed: 25 June 2008

After completing her studies at Unisa
and auditing articles, Lizette started her
career at SA Oil Mills. In 1997 she was
appointed financial manager at
iafrica.com. She joined Distribution
and Warehousing Network Limited
(Dawn) in 2001 as financial director in
a subsidiary and, rising through the
ranks, was appointed head of Group
Internal  Audit, with a seat on the SSD
board of Dawn, and fulfilled the role of
financial director in subsidiary 
businesses as the need arose. Lizette
joined Rolfes in January 2008 as a
consultant, was appointed permanently
in April 2008 and appointed as Group
financial director on 25 June 2008.

Arnold J Fourie (46)
Non-executive director 
BSc Chem Eng (University of
Potchefstroom), MSc Chem Eng
(University of Witwatersrand)
Appointed: 22 November 2000

Arnold is the Chief Executive Officer
(CEO) of the listed ICT group, 
Pinnacle Technology Holdings. He
started Pinnacle in 1993. He acquired
Rolfes in 1999 and was CEO of Rolfes
Technology Holdings from 2000 until
2007. He will continue to play a 
leading role in the strategic direction
and future growth of the Group.

Lungisa Dyosi (37)
Non-executive director 
BA Law, LLB, (University of Cape
Town), SEP (University of Witwatersrand
and Harvard Business Schools),
Advocate of the High Court of South
Africa
Appointed: 5 April 2007

Before joining Vuwa Investment,
Lungisa worked for six years for the
National prosecuting Authority as a
Strategy and Legal Advisor to the
National Director of Public
Prosecutions. He also serves as a
director on the boards of Basil Read
Construction, DCM Chrome (Pty)
Limited and Afrifresh (Pty) Limited.
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Rolfes is an exciting company within its industry sector,
with stable good leadership and financial performance
to match. The energetic Rolfes environment stimulates
and promotes entrepreneurial spirit, granting growth
opportunities to all associated with the Group.  

OVERVIEW

Government’s continued spend on infrastructure is 
securing a more optimistic longer term outlook, despite
the somewhat abated negative impact of high oil and
food prices, interest rate hikes and the electricity crisis. 

In this period the Rolfes Group continued to deliver
strong results with fully diluted headline earnings of 29,2
cents per share for the 2008 financial year representing
an increase of 39,7% over 2007. The 2008 headline
earnings again exceeded the 2008 headline earnings
forecast as per the prospectus issued by the Company
during May 2007, as was the case in respect of the
2007 forecast. Furthermore, the year-on-year profit
growth of the Company over the past four years has
been more than satisfactory. 

VALUE STRATEGY

Management continues to focus on organic growth,
including an export drive, in order to maximise profits,
expansion of production capacity and curtailment of
operational costs. The Leather-Chem and KZN Resin
plant acquisitions as well as the Group’s recent joint 

ventures with Union Colours and Rolfes Logistics, 
guarantees future growth. Potential acquisitions remain
an area to be exploited; with intellectual capital, high
barriers to entry, complementary operations and 
profitability being prerequisites in our acquisition 
strategy.

GOVERNANCE AND SUSTAINABILITY

Management is optimistic about the economic future of
South Africa and Rolfes.  

In this year we are going to focus on communicating the
Rolfes vision with greater clarity while respecting 
operational and industry diversity and recognising that
the emphasis may vary from one business to the other
within the Group. Corporate governance and best 
practices is well respected, prescribed to and assist
greatly with managing daily challenges. Our business
model aims to provide our customers with diverse 
quality products at competitive prices with quality back
up and service. 

BROAD-BASED BLACK ECONOMIC
EMPOWERMENT

Rolfes still believes that Black Economic Empowerment
(BEE) is an imperative to the economic transformation of
our society. We will continue to pursue our BEE social
responsibilities and our mission to deliver meaningful
and sustainable black economic empowerment.

APPRECIATION

Once again, it gives me great pleasure to congratulate
our team of executives, the board of directors, all 
management and staff for their successful contributions
over the past financial year. I am looking forward to
another year of sustained growth.

Bulelani T Ngcuka
Chairman
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GROUP STRUCTURE

100%

RCPI
(Cape Town)

(division)

RCPI
(Europe)
(division)

UNION* 
COLOURS

(Joint venture)

ROLFES*
LOGISTICS

(subsidiary)

PIGMENTS

ROLFES COLOUR 
PIGMENTS 

INTERNATIONAL

ROLFES 
CHEMICALS

CHEMICALS

ROLFES 
SILICA

SILICA

ROLFES 
ASSET 

HOLDING

PROPERTY

* Subsequent to the year-end



BRIEF OVERVIEW 

Rolfes demonstrated sustained growth during the 2008 financial year.

Increased market share was attained through successful capitalisation of

market challenges. The strategic Leather-Chem acquisition (renamed RCPI

Cape Town), securing a second resin plant in Durban, enhanced product

offerings, export growth, increased trade volumes, customer base 

increases and cost containment, all contributed to the Group’s satisfactory

performance.

Key drivers for the Group’s performance include its continued positive

approach to view challenges as opportunities and its persistent pursuit of

new prospects in relevant industries. Strengthened supplier relationships

and strategic partnerships played an important role in the Group’s success

to date. Positive brand perception assisted with growth in international trading volumes while effective pricing 

strategies guaranteed competitiveness in all market sectors.

Rolfes manufactures and distributes a wide range of market-leading, high-quality products through various divisions to

diverse industries including the coatings, plastics, vinyl, leather, ink, metallurgical, filtration and construction industries.

The Pigments division is responsible for the manufacture and distribution of organic and inorganic pigments, pigments

pastes and dyes. Resins, solvents and other speciality chemicals are manufactured and distributed through its Chemicals

division, while the Silica division manufactures and distributes pure beneficiated silica.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The Group revenue increased by 40,1% to R314,9 million (2007: R224,7 million). The revenue growth, gross margin
containment and persistent focus on cost-saving and optimisation initiatives contributed to the 47,6% improvement in
operating profit to R45,1 million (2007: R30,6 million). Headline earnings increased by 58,1% to R30,1 million (2007:
R19,0 million). Fully diluted headline earnings per share reached 29,2 cents per share (2007: 20,9 cents per share),
an increase of 39,7% over 2007.

The Group exceeded its 2008 prospectus forecast on earnings, headline earnings, earnings per share and headline
earnings per share.

Group liquidity and solvability improved from 2007 with total assets increasing by R89,6 million. Group 
interest-bearing debt increased by R15,9 million. The net asset value per share strengthened to 109,1 cents per share
(2007: 78,0 cents per share) while the net tangible asset value per share increased to 95,4 cents per share (2007:
69,2 cent per share).

Interest cover improved to 11,6 times (2007: 6,8 times) while the total debt: equity ratio (interest-bearing debt)
increased from 0,2  in 2007 to 0,3 in 2008. 

Realised foreign exchange gains for the year amounted to R4,2 million (2007: (R0,2 million)) attributable to exchange
rate volatility and effective policy alignment to unpredictable market conditions.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT 
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The Group incurred capital expenditure of R20,2

million (2007: R13,9 million). R11,2 million was

spent to maintain, improve and increase current

production capabilities. R0,8 million was invested in

the replacement of the current IT infrastructure and

to upgrade computer equipment. The new 

acquisition’s fixed assets acquired amounted to 

R3,7 million while the balance was spent on 

property improvements, furniture and fittings. 

A further R4,2 million was utilised to upgrade the

transport fleet.

Cash flow

The Group’s bankers increased overdraft facilities to

R35,0 million (2007: R10,0 million) during June

2008 to fund working capital requirements due to

augmented growth in both the Chemicals and the

Pigments divisions. The increase in net working 

capital investment during 2008 of R39,9 million

comprises mostly strategic investment in stock, both

raw material and finished goods, increasing by

R52,5 million (2007: R12,9 million) to counteract

Asian market turmoil, and increased solvents 

trading. Investment in trade and other receivables

increased by R20,2 million (2007: R21,9 million).

The increase in stock and debtors was partially 

offset by an increase in trade and other payables of 

R32,8 million.

The large increase in stock during May and June

2008 contributed primarily to the targeted R34,2

million (2007: R22,9 million) for cash generated

from operations (70% of EBITDA) not being met.

Management has a firm intention to manage the

cash generated from operations back within the set

target during 2009.

Insurance refunds for the Alberton chemical plant

explosion amounted to R5,9 million during the year

under review. The R1,2 million outstanding as at 

30 June 2008 is pending claim finalisation. 

OPERATIONAL REVIEW

Rolfes Colour Pigments

Turnover increased by 35,0% to R158,9 million

(2007: R117,6 million) due to new product 

innovations and trading and export volume 

increases. Acquisition growth (RCPI Cape Town) in

turnover amounted to R7,1 million included for

seven months. Significantly increased export and

trading activities in African, European and Asian

markets contributed to the division’s performance,

comprising 17,5% (2007: 7,3%) of turnover.

Exchange rate fluctuations had a positive impact on

trading export performance.

The division was able to increase gross profit 

margins to 24,7 % (2007: 23,4%). The increase is

attributable to the inclusion, for seven months, of

higher margin high-quality pigment pastes 

manufactured and distributed by the new 

acquisition, RCPI Cape Town. Increased 

international export trading activities within the

Pigments division at lower margins placed some

strain on the historic gross profit margins achieved.

The division effectively counteracted lower export

trading margins and sustained gross profit margins

through effective pricing mechanisms that allowed

for timeous passing of raw material price 

increases to the market. Trust in the Rolfes 

brand assisted with customer loyalty and support.

Improved manufacturing processes contributed 

to cost containment in a challenging economic 

environment. 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT
CONTINUED
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Capitalisation on ongoing turmoil in the Chinese

market, coupled with the export moratorium during

the Beijing Olympics as well as proactive strategic

investment in crucial raw material stock, ensured a

competitive edge, resulting in service level 

improvement and a significant gain in market share.

The 16,2% increase in operating costs is primarily

attributable to human capital investment in key 

appointments in the African export market 

and aggressive performance bonus structures 

implemented during the 2008 financial year. 

Capital expenditure incurred amounted to 

R4,4 million (2007: R0,9 million) mainly due to the

acquisition of RCPI Cape Town and other 

expenditure incurred to maintain production 

capacity and assist with continuous productivity

improvement projects.  

Unfavourable local economic factors, such as 

interest rate hikes, load shedding, escalating energy

costs and higher oil prices, were successfully 

counteracted through implementation of pro-active

procurement and pricing strategies on raw material

as well as the implementation of effective cost-

saving measures. Management expects these

actions to continue.

Management is looking forward to the international

Union Colours project, embarked on during July

2008, reaching its potential during the latter part of

the 2009 financial year. In addition; the division is 

aggressively pursuing various international trading

opportunities including facilitating trade between

local suppliers and international customers. The

increased exports of locally manufactured pigment

products to Europe, Africa and Asia will continue to

be a key focus area of the division. Furthermore, the

products manufactured by RCPI Cape Town will 

continue to be introduced to other local and 

overseas customers of the Pigments division. 

Rolfes Chemicals

Organic turnover growth of 59,2% to R114,2 

million (2007: R71,8 million) is in part due to

increased trading volumes in specific solvent and

lacquer thinners product lines towards the latter part

of the 2008 financial year. The increase in 

manufactured products, alkyd, acrylic and wood

finish resins, contributed to increased sales during

the first six months of the 2008 financial year.

The lower gross profit margin at 12,6% (2007:

16,3%) was, in part, due to an increase in solvent

trade volumes at lower margins. Full recovery on

raw material price increases was not possible due to

competitive market prices and customer base

expansion becoming a priority. The effect of the 

explosion at the Alberton plant during April 2007

resulted in increased costs of manufacturing and

products were bought in at higher costs to facilitate

customer retention until August 2007 when the plant

was back in full production. Production capacity, to

facilitate customer demands, was increased through

minimal capital investment in the KwaZulu-Natal

resin manufacturing plant. Full production was

achieved at this plant, as expected, by April 2008.

The facilities are rented on a five-year basis with the

option to renew for a further five years. Operating

costs to bring the plant into full operation placed 

further strain on gross profit performance. The full

benefit of the plant will only be evident during the

financial year ending June 2009.

Capital expenditure of R 2,5 million (2007: R0,6

million) consisted largely of expenses to improve

manufacturing capability at the Alberton facilities,

following the explosion, and the KwaZulu-Natal 

factory. 

Operating expenses increased due to the 

establishment of the Durban Plant that only reached

full production capability by February 2008, as well

as additional costs relating to increased turnover.

CONTINUED
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Electricity black-outs and interest rate hikes 

contributed to lower than expected growth in the South

African decorative coatings market, resulting in 

reduced supply into that specific market sector by 

Rolfes Chemicals. 

2009 prospects include additions of new product lines

resulting in an expanded customer base, as well as joint

venture prospects in respect of exports and local 

manufacturing opportunities, and initiatives in chemicals

transport opportunities through the newly established

Rolfes Logistics. Rolfes Logistics will not only allow the

division to have better control over its logistics function,

resulting in improved customer satisfaction, but also

yield significant cost-savings.

Rolfes Silica

Turnover increased by 17,7% to R39,7 million (2007:

R33,7 million). Initiatives to increase market awareness

and promote market presence as well as improved 

production planning resulted in an expanded customer

base and, in combination with enhanced product 

quality, led to increased volumes. However, sales and

production were hampered by equipment breakdowns,

the extensive rains experienced during the latter part of

last year and a series of power cuts that have 

interrupted operations during the first few months of this

year.

Gross profit margins at 35,1% (2007: 32,1%) improved

due to cost consolidation, optimisation of production

processes (higher volumes with consequential decrease

in cost per unit) and increased transport efficiencies.

Outsourcing of maintenance, and product, blast, load

and haul also allowed for pricing to remain competitive.

Aggregate product demand increased during the 

financial year while only a slight increase for silica fines

was noted. 

Operating expenses reduced slightly from 2007 to 2008

due to cost containment in the overhead structures.  

To increase production capacity and to facilitate higher

customer demands as well as required improvements in

product quality, and to maintain safety and security and

comply with the Department of Minerals and Energy

regulations, capital expenditure incurred amounted to

R8,5 million (2007: R10,9 million). 

Management expects to increase current production and

sales volumes, as well as improving the sales mix (selling

more silica fines at higher margins), in the 2009 

financial year. Aggregate material will remain an 

important area as the division’s customer demand for

aggregate material, used in the construction, building

and maintenance of roads, has increased. However,

management’s key focus will be to continue to grow the

silica fines volumes by targeting untapped market

opportunities. Expanded, accelerated and improved

production processes will assist with higher production

volumes and additional unit cost reduction. Export 

initiatives and opportunities of silica fines to SADEC

countries are currently being pursued.

MARKET CONDITIONS AND PROSPECTS

Beyond the June 2008 year-end, Rolfes has seen 

continuous demand for its products. However, 

management is fully aware of the macro-

economic factors weighing negatively on the South

African and global economies. To increase sales in

2009, Rolfes will be adding more products to the basket,

exploring new territories and trying to increase market

share where it can. Rising raw material prices will 

continue to put a squeeze on trading margins. However,

thus far the Group has been able to maintain margins

due to additional internal buying and manufacturing

efficiencies and through partially passing the increase in

raw material costs onto customers. Rolfes continually

monitors all production and administrative overhead

cost structures to improve operating profits and margins. 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT 
CONTINUED
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In the short-term the Rolfes strategy is to continue to

grow organically through export market share

growth and other projects as mentioned above, such

as Union Colours and Rolfes Logistics, as well as to

identify and conclude suitable acquisitions which

meet the investment criteria. Suitable opportunities

will be evaluated to, amongst others,  have owner-

ship of intellectual capital, high barriers to entry,

manufacturing in the technology field, quality of

management and strong cash flow  and growth

potential. The Group’s existing product and market

diversification within its product range should

ensure future growth.

DIVIDENDS AND SHARE LIQUIDITY 

The dividend policy has been reviewed and the

Group has decided to continue its strategy to 

re-invest earnings in growth opportunities and

development. Various initiatives are underway to

improve share liquidity including regular investor

and stockbroker visits, and the creation of 

communication platforms to keep the investment

community informed of corporate activity and 

developments within the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND 

SUSTAINABILITY

The Group is committed to sound corporate 

governance and sustainability practices. Various 

initiatives will be investigated and embarked on 

during 2009 to increase the Group’s investment in

social responsibility. 

HUMAN RESOURCES 

Continued focus on employment security and staff 

retention has been successful with staff turnover 

remaining low for the year under review. The Group

continues to employ historically disadvantaged 

individuals to train into skilled positions.

Rolfes recognises employees as assets and 

important contributors to its success. Bonus and

remuneration structures are in place to reward 

management and staff for remarkable performance.

Prevailing team spirit and organisational pride 

have added exceptional value to the Group’s

achievement.

BLACK ECONOMIC EMPOWERMENT

Rolfes is committed to black economic 

empowerment along with black-controlled 

Vuwa Investments, the Group’s black empowerment

partner with a 24,8% shareholding. Constant efforts

ensure that employment equity ratios are increased

on all management levels. Various initiatives will be

undertaken during the 2009 financial year to

improve the Group’s black economic empowerment

status.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the board of directors, I would like to

thank an outstanding team, both management and

staff, for their passion, dedication to the task and

unfailing support of the Group’s strategies and

goals. Your optimistic energy, positive attitudes and

sense of purpose have contributed to the Group’s

performance. 

We would also like to thank all customers and 

suppliers, your continued support and loyalty is

greatly appreciated.

2009 is going to be a year filled with not only 

challenges but also opportunities and I am looking

forward to participating in further growth and

achievement. 

E van der Merwe
Chief Executive Officer
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited and its directors

accept their duty and responsibility to fully support

and endorse the King II Report’s Code of Corporate

Practices and Conduct and the Board of directors is

committed to the principles of transparency, 

integrity and accountability. The Board is satisfied

that the Group complies with all material provisions

of the King II Report as well as the JSE Listings

Requirements.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of directors of Rolfes, chaired by Bulelani

Ngcuka, a non-executive director, reflects an 

appropriate mix of executive and non-executive 

directors. Specifically, it comprises of three non-

executive directors and two executive directors. 

This allows the non-executive directors to provide 

independent judgement on issues of strategy, 

performance, resources, transformation, diversity,

employment equity and evaluation of performance

and standards of conduct. While executive directors

have service contracts and restraint agreements,

they are also shareholders. 

The Board meets at least four times per year to 
initiate, evaluate and monitor business matters,
which have an impact on the wellbeing of the Group
and its stakeholders. These include setting Group
strategy, determining policy and instituting control
measures. The Board takes final responsibility for
acquisitions and disposals, approves capital 
expenditure and appraises proposals from the 
executive, remuneration and audit and risk 
committees. 

The Board gives strategic direction to the Group,
appoints the chief executive officer and ensures that 
succession is planned. The non-executive directors
take responsibility for ensuring that the chair
encourages proper deliberation of all matters
requiring the Board’s attention. The Board ensures
that there is an appropriate balance of power and
authority on the Board so that no one individual or
block of individuals can dominate the Board’s 
decision-making process. The roles of the 
chairman and chief executive officer are separate.

The Board has a comprehensive system of control 

ensuring that risks are mitigated and the Group’s 

objectives are attained. This control environment sets

the tone of the Group and covers ethical values, 

management’s philosophy and the competence of

employees.

The Board ensures that the Group complies with all 

relevant laws, regulations and codes of business

practice and that it communicates with its 

shareholders and relevant internal and external

stakeholders openly, promptly and with substance

prevailing over form. 

The Board and its committees are supplied with full

and timely information which enables them to 

discharge their responsibilities and have 

unrestricted access to all Group information,

records, documents and property. Non-executive

directors have access to management and may even

meet separately with management, without the

attendance of executive directors. 

The company secretary provides guidance to the

Board as a whole and to individual directors with

regard to how their responsibilities should properly

be discharged in the best interests of the Group. The

company secretary also oversees the induction of

new directors and assists the chairman and the chief

executive officer in determining the annual board

plan, board agendas and formulating governance

and board-related issues.

The Board defines levels of materiality, reserving 

specific power to itself and delegating other matters

with the necessary written authority to management.

These matters are monitored and evaluated on a

regular basis. The Board identifies the key risk areas

and key performance indicators for the Group.

Directors, both executive and non-executive, are

appointed for their skill and experience. 

The appointment of new directors requires a 

majority approval of the Board.

The Board established a formal orientation 

programme to familiarise incoming directors with
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the Company’s operations, senior management and

its business environment and to induct them in their

fiduciary duties and responsibilities.

The daily management of the Group’s affairs is 
delegated to the chief executive officer, who 
co-ordinates the implementation of Board policy.
The Board annually appraises the chief executive
officer and the results of this appraisal are 
considered by the remuneration committee to guide
it in its evaluation of the performance and 
remuneration of the chief executive officer.  

Board Charter

Rolfes continues to develop the Board Charter. 

Purpose and objectives

The purpose of the Charter is to regulate how 

business is to be conducted by the Board in 

accordance with the principles of good corporate

governance. The Charter sets out specific 

responsibilities to be discharged by Board members

collectively and the individual roles expected of

Board members. The objectives of the Charter are to

ensure that all Board members acting on behalf 

of the Group are aware of their duties and 

responsibilities as Board members and the various

legislation and regulations affecting their conduct

and to ensure that the principles of good corporate

governance are applied in all their dealings in

respect of, and on behalf of, the Group.

Board committees

Specific responsibilities have been formally 

delegated to Board committees with defined terms of

reference, lifespan and function, clearly agreed

upon reporting procedures and written scope of

authority. There is transparency and full disclosure

from the Board committees to the Board, except

where mandated otherwise by the Board. Board

committees are free to take independent outside

professional advice as and when necessary and are

subject to regular evaluation by the Board to 

ascertain their performance and effectiveness. 

Audit and risk committee

The audit and risk committee, comprising 

BT Ngcuka (Chairman of the audit and risk 

committee), AJ Fourie and the Company’s 

designated adviser, was established with terms of

reference from the Board and is chaired by a non-

executive director. 

The audit and risk committee meets at least twice per

annum to discuss issues of accounting, auditing,

internal controls and financial reporting. The 

external auditors and appropriate members of 

executive management attend the meetings. The

external auditors have unrestricted access to the

chairman of the audit and risk committee.

The committee is responsible for reviewing the 

functioning of the internal control system, risk areas

of the Group’s operations, the reliability and 

accuracy of the financial information provided to

management and other users of financial 

information, whether the Group should continue to

use the services of the current external auditors, any

accounting or auditing concerns identified as a

result of the external audit, and the Group’s 

compliance with legal and regulatory provisions, its

Articles of Association, code of conduct, by-laws

and the rules established by the Board.  

The duties of the audit and risk committee include

reviewing the scope and results of the external 

audit and its cost effectiveness, as well as the 

independence and objectivity of the external 

auditors. Where the auditors supply non-audit 

services to the Group, the audit and risk committee

reviews the nature and extent of such services, 

seeking to balance the maintenance of objectivity

and value for money.

The audit and risk committee considers whether or

not the interim report should be subject to an 

independent review by the auditors. It also 

reviews the annual financial statements and the

appropriateness of the accounting policies adopted

by the Group.
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The audit and risk committee deals adequately with

its membership, authority and duties.

The Group takes cognisance of the implications of

the Corporate Laws Amendment Act (CLA) 

regarding audit committee members whereby the

audit committee should comprise solely of at 

least two “non-executive directors” who “act 

independently.”

Remuneration committee

The remuneration committee, comprising L Dyosi

(Chairman of the remuneration committee), and 

AJ Fourie, is responsible for the assessment and

approval of the Board’s remuneration strategy for

the Group, the determination of short- and 

long-term incentive pay structures for Group 

executives, general staff policy, remuneration, 

service contracts, the positioning of senior executive

pay levels relative to local and international industry

benchmarks and the assessment and authorisation

of specific reward proposals for the Group’s 

executive directors and those executives reporting

directly to the non-executive chairman, as well as

Group retirement funds. 

Directors that are members of the remuneration

committee are excluded from the review of their own

remuneration.

The remuneration committee’s overall strategy is to

ensure that employees are rewarded for their 

contribution to the Group’s operating and financial

performance at levels which take account of 

industry, market and country benchmarks, as well as

the requirements of collective bargaining.

The Group’s strategy is to ensure that remuneration

matches individual contribution to Group 

performance, within the framework of market

forces, while protecting shareholders’ interests and

the Group’s financial health. Details of the directors’

aggregate emoluments on an individual basis are

set out on page 68 of the annual report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Going concern

The annual financial statements are prepared on the

going concern basis in accordance with

International Financial Reporting Standards. The

appropriate principal accounting policies as set out

on pages 30 to 47 have consistently been applied.

The directors have no reason to believe that the

Company and the Group will not be a going 

concern in the foreseeable future. The Board 

minutes the facts and assumptions used in the

assessment of the going concern status of the Group

at the financial year-end.

Auditing and accounting

The Board is of the opinion that their auditors

observe the highest level of business and 

professional ethics and that their independence is

not in any way impaired. The auditors have the right

of access to all information or personnel within the

Group on any matter necessary to fulfil their duties.

The external auditors attend audit and risk 

committee meetings by invitation.

Internal control

The Group maintains systems of internal control,

which include financial, operational and 

compliance controls. These controls are established

to provide reasonable assurance of the effective and

efficient operation of the Group and its compliance

with all relevant laws and regulations, as well as to

the reliability of the annual financial reporting and

to adequately safeguard, verify and maintain

accountability for assets. The controls are reviewed

and monitored regularly throughout the Group by

management and employees.

The Board of directors is accountable for 

establishing appropriate risk and control policies

and is responsible for monitoring, reviewing and

communicating these controls and policies through

the organisation. Corrective actions are taken to

address control deficiencies and other opportunities

for improving the systems, as they are identified. 

 



The Board, operating through its audit and risk 

committee, provides oversight of the financial

reporting process.

All processes have been in place for the year under

review and up to the date of the approval of the

annual financial statements, nothing has come to the

attention of the directors to indicate that any 

material breakdown in the functioning of the 

internal financial controls has occurred during the

year under review.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for the total process of risk

management, as well as forming its own opinion on

the effectiveness of the process, and sets the risk

strategy, which is based on the need to identify,

assess, manage and monitor all known forms of risk

across the Group, in liaison with the executive 

directors and senior management. These policies

are clearly communicated to all employees to ensure

that the risk strategy is incorporated into the 

language and culture of the Group. Risk 

management and internal control are practised

throughout the Group and are embedded in day-to-

day activities.

The Group insures against losses arising from 

catastrophic events, which include fire, flood, 

explosion, earthquake and machinery breakdown,

as well as business interruption from these events.

The Group renews its insurance policies annually 

in July. 

SHARE TRADING

The Group has a formal policy, established by the

Board and implemented by the company secretary,

prohibiting dealing in securities by directors, officers

and other selected employees from the end of the

respective reporting period to the date of the

announcement of the financial results or in any other

period considered sensitive.

COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS

It is the policy of the Group to pursue dialogue with

institutional investors based on constructive 

engagement and the mutual understanding of

objectives taking due regard of statutory, regulatory

and other directives regulating the dissemination of

information by companies and their directors. 

Reporting addresses material matters of significant

interest and concern to all stakeholders and presents

a comprehensive and objective assessment of the

Group so that all shareholders and relevant 

stakeholders with a legitimate interest in the Group’s

affairs can obtain a full, fair and honest account of

its performance.

PSG Capital (Proprietary) Limited acts as Rolfes’

sponsor in compliance with the JSE Listings

Requirements.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The agenda for the annual general meeting is set by

the company secretary and communicated to all

shareholders in the notice of the annual general

meeting, which accompanies the annual report.

Consequently, the notice of the annual general 

meeting is distributed well in advance of the meeting

and affords all shareholders sufficient time to

acquaint themselves with the effects of any proposed

resolutions. Adequate time is also provided by the

chairman in the annual general meeting for the 

discussion of any proposed resolutions. The conduct

of a poll to decide on any proposed resolutions is

controlled by the chairman at the meeting and takes

account of the votes of all shareholders, whether

present in person or by proxy. A proxy form is

included in the annual report for this purpose. 

The Group recognises the importance of its 

shareholders’ attendance at its annual general 

meeting. Explanatory notes setting out the effect of

all proposed resolutions accompany the notice of

meeting.16
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SUSTAINABILITY

Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited recognises the

importance of supporting and participating in

advancing sustainable development as well as the

necessity of sound social and environmental 

practices in conjunction with financial reporting. 

Existing policies and procedures are reviewed 

constantly to ensure effectiveness, while new and

improved measures are frequently developed and

implemented to manage sustainability initiatives of

social and environmental indicators. 

VISION

Rolfes commits to manufacturing market-leading

quality and globally competitive products to the 

pigments, chemical and silica industries that will

promote the future sustainability and growth of

national economies.

CORPORATE VALUES

The Rolfes Group subscribes to a comprehensive

value system supporting the following:

• Accountability 

• Entrepreneurship 

• Equal opportunity and development

• Fairness 

• Honesty 

• Respect 

• Responsibility 

• Transparency 

• Environmental protection 

CODE OF ETHICS

The manner in which Rolfes conducts its activities is

of critical importance and reflects its commitment to

enhancing the standards and quality of life in the

society and communities in which the Group 

operates. Rolfes is committed to communicate and

act with honesty, integrity and responsibility in its

dealings with all its role players.

SOCIAL INDICATORS 

Employment

Labour/management relations

The Group has an open-door policy, which 

encourages meaningful interaction at all levels.  

Regular communication meetings take place

between the trade union and Rolfes officials and

several forums serve as communication platforms.

Bulletin boards and newsletters are in place and

serves as a communications tool with employees.

Diversity and opportunity

The Group’s diversity exists through the 

different industries it operates in as well as 

expansion and upgrading projects. The support

services departments include the financial function,

human resources function and information 

technology which offer further diversity and 

opportunities within the Company. The Company

promotes equal opportunities and fair treatment in

employment through the elimination of unfair 

discrimination. 

Non-discrimination

The Company does not discriminate, directly or 

indirectly, against any employee in any employment

policy or practice, on grounds including race, 

sexual orientation, gender, pregnancy, marital 

status, family responsibility, ethnic or social origin,

age, disability, religion, HIV status, conscience,

belief, political opinion, culture, language or birth.

Freedom of association and collective 

bargaining

Employees have the right to belong to collective 

bargaining associations. 

 



Disciplinary practices

All disciplinary practices are conducted in 

accordance with the Company Disciplinary Code

and Procedures in line with the Code of Good

Practice. 

Employment equity

Equity and practices

Careful consideration has been given to analyse the

Company’s policies, procedures, practices and the

working environment in order to identify equity 

barriers and any other negative influences that

might have an effect on the positive outcome of the

Employment Equity plan. Allocation of resources

includes the appointment of a designated officer to

manage the implementation, an allocated budget to

support the implementation goals of employment

through development, training and a further study

loan scheme and the establishment of an employ-

ment equity forum.

Historically disadvantaged employees’ career

paths and skills development plans

The Company is committed to the development of all

employees and to providing equal opportunities in

the workplace by making the best use of human

resources with due regard to the need for building

on existing strengths and employee potential.

Reporting

Annual Employment Equity reports are submitted to

the Department of Labour.

Human resource development

The primary objective of the Rolfes Human

Resources Development Programme is to ensure the

availability of production operation specific skills

and competencies of the workforce, as well as 

developing skills employees can utilise outside the

industry. Rolfes upholds the philosophy that every

employee should be given the opportunity to 

develop his/her personal potential.

Training and education

Skills development

The Skills Development Committee conducts 

quarterly meetings to evaluate the workplace skills

plan and monitor progress.

A Workplace Skills Plan and Annual Training Report

are submitted to CHETA.

Empowerment

Rolfes is an equal opportunity employer and a 

programme is in place to ensure that Rolfes’ 

employee profile will become more representative of

the demographics of the regions in which it operates

whilst maintaining high standards.

The Group’s goal is to develop the educational base

of the Rolfes workforce and give employees the

opportunity to become functionally literate and

numerate, which will in turn empower the employees

beyond the boundaries of the workplace.

Human rights

As a responsible corporate citizen and employer,

the Rolfes Group fulfils all the requirements of the

various acts, rules and regulations governing

labour, including the Constitution, the Labour

Relations Act, the Employment Equity Act, the Skills

Development Act and the Basic Conditions of

Employment Act.

The Group will not hesitate to terminate agreements

and relationships with contractors or suppliers who

act in contravention of international human rights

standards.

Bribery and corruption

The Rolfes Group is implacably opposed to bribery

and corruption. Employees are discouraged from

accepting any gifts or favours from suppliers that

obligate them in any way to reciprocate. The Group

endeavours to comply with all the requirements of

the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Act and the Protected

Disclosures Act.

18
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Rolfes’ Black Economic Empowerment
policy

40% of the Company’s main board is black with

Bulelani Ngcuka being the chairman. Vuwa

Investments (Proprietary) Limited (“Vuwa”) is a 

private company incorporated in South Africa,

owned and controlled by black people. Vuwa has a

24,8% shareholding in Rolfes.

Corporate social investment

The Company is effecting donations to identified

charitable institutions who are involved in the 

upliftment of the quality of life of local communities

and the disabled. Rolfes receives numerous requests

for assistance from a wide range or organisations

and assesses each one on its merits.

Safety, health and environment

Policy, strategy, procedures and infrastructure are 

in place to cater for all environmental and 

occupational health and safety issues. Considerable

emphasis is placed on preventing environmental

damage, polution, workplace accidents and 

fatalities. Risk assessments ensure ongoing 

compliance with the Occupational Health and

Safety Act.

All manufacturing operations provide in-house

training on various safety precautions, codes of

practice and safe operating procedures on a 

regular basis.

A medical surveillance programme has been 

established and is outsourced to a third party,

including the services of a medical doctor, and an

occupational health sister.

Industrial hygiene is constantly monitored. Regular

training is given while personnel is issued with 

protective clothing and equipment. Workers are

monitored regularly for the potential health effect of

the products they are exposed to and work with.

Proper storage facilities are in place for raw 

materials and finished goods to ensure safety to

employees and the environment.

Flammable materials are stored in flammable 

material stores and flameproof equipment is used to

work with flammable materials. Appropriate 

precautions are taken to avoid potential explosions

associated with dust clouds.

HIV/AIDS

Rolfes recognises the serious impact of the

HIV/AIDS pandemic, alongside the threat of other

diseases which could cause significant risk.

Healthcare promotion therefore concentrates on 

various infectious and lifestyle diseases. 

Environmental indicators 

Rolfes is aware of the fact that its activities could

potentially cause environmental damage. The

Group works closely with local and environmental

authorities to ensure that it operates well within

national norms in terms of environmental impact

and the mining license issued.

Emission, effluents and waste

All operations conduct regular risk assessments to

ensure compliance with relevant legislation and

emissions, effluent and waste disposal requirements.

Registered and accredited institutions supply the

businesses with approved disposal certificates which

verify that waste is separated and disposed of.

Effluent treatment plants deal with all effluents in line

with local and national regulations.

To limit emissions or other harmful discharges from

vehicles, route plans are assessed to minimise 

distances, and regular service and maintenance

schedules are maintained for optimum fuel 

consumption.

Energy

Optimum energy management promotes 

operational efficiencies in using energy sources and

implementing safety practices in line with the 

relevant acts, regulations and local authority 

guidelines.



2008 2008 2007 2007
R’000 % R’000 %

Group

Revenue 314 898 224 727

Cost of material and services (228 876) (160 477)

Value added by operations 86 022 99,8 64 250 99,9

Interest income 164 0,2 84 0,1

86 186 100,0 64 334 100,00

Applied as follows:

Employees’ salaries, wages and benefits 37 070 43,0 29 416 45,7

Government taxation 11 740 13,6 7 123 11,1

Providers of capital and interest 3 879 4,5 4 477 7,0

Dividends – – 2 000 3,1

Retained in the Group

Retained earnings 29 652 34,3 19 050 29,6

Minority shareholders – – – –

Depreciation 3 840 4,6 2 267 3,5

Amortisation 5 – 1 –

86 186 100,0 64 334 100,0

VALUE ADDED STATEMENT

2008 2007
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for the year ended 30 June 2008
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The directors of Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited have pleasure in presenting the annual financial statements for the
year ended 30 June 2008.

In terms of the South African Companies Act, the directors are required to prepare annual financial statements that
fairly present the state of affairs and business of the Company and of the Group at the end of the financial year and
of the profit or loss for that year. To achieve the highest standards of financial reporting, these annual financial 
statements have been drawn up to comply with International Financial Reporting Standards and have been prepared
using appropriate accounting policies, supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.

The annual financial statements comprise:

• the directors’ report
• the balance sheet
• the income statement
• the statement of changes in equity
• the cash flow statement
• the notes to the financial statements

The reports by the chairman and the chief executive officer are on the results of operations for the year and those 
matters which are material for an appreciation of the state of affairs and business of the Company and of the Rolfes
Group. 

Supported by the audit and risk committee, the directors are satisfied that the internal controls, systems and procedures
in operation provide reasonable assurance that all assets are safeguarded, that transactions are properly executed and
recorded, and that the possibility of material loss or misstatement is minimised. The directors have reviewed the 
appropriateness of the accounting policies, and concluded that estimates and judgements are prudent. They are of the
opinion that the annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs and business of the Company and the
Group at 30 June 2008 and of the profit for the year to that date. The external auditors are 
responsible for reporting on whether the financial statements are fairly presented.

In addition, the directors have also reviewed the cash flow forecast for the year to 30 June 2009 and believe that the
Rolfes Group has adequate resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the annual 
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

The annual financial statements were approved by the board of directors and were signed on their behalf by:

BT Ngcuka E van der Merwe L Lynch
Chairman Chief Executive Officer Financial Director

Midrand
9 September 2008

DECLARATION BY COMPANY SECRETARY

In terms of section 268G(d) of the South African Companies Act, 1973, as amended (the Act), I certify that Rolfes
Technology Holdings Limited has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are required of a public
company in terms of the Act. Further, that such returns are true, correct and up to date.

L Lynch
Company Secretary

Midrand
9 September 2008
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To the shareholders of Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited

We have audited the annual financial statements and Group annual financial statements of Rolfes Technology Holdings
Limited, which comprise the directors’ report, the balance sheet and the consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June
2008, the income statement and the consolidated income statement, the statement of changes in equity and the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity, the cash flow statement and the consolidated cash flow statement for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on 
pages 24 to 84.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the Companies Act of
South Africa. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company
and of the Group as of 30 June 2008, and their financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the Companies Act of
South Africa. 

BDO Spencer Steward 
(Jhb) Incorporated
Registered Auditors

13 Wellington Road
Parktown 
2193 
Per: M Cowley
Johannesburg
10 September 2008
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The directors have pleasure in presenting their report on

the activities of the Company and Group for the year

ended 30 June 2008.

Nature of business of the Group

Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited (Rolfes or the

Company) is a holding company that, through its 

divisions and subsidiaries, provides a wide range of

market-leading products to customers through dedicated

teams of industry specialists in the silica, chemical and

pigments industries. Rolfes’ primary listing is under AltX

of the JSE Limited.

Results of operations

The results of the year’s operations are set out in 

the financial statements from pages 26 to 84 and 

incorporate the consolidated results of the Company and

its subsidiaries.

Year under review

The year under review is fully covered in the chairman’s

and the chief executive officer’s reports. 

Post-balance sheet events

No event took place between the year-end and the date

of this report that will materially influence these financial 

statements.

Share capital

Details of the authorised and issued share capital

appear in note 9 of the annual financial statements.

During the year under review the Company issued 

1 109 467 shares to acquire Leather-Chem (Pty) Limited,

a wholly-owned subsidiary of Rolfes Colour Pigments

International (Pty) Limited.

Dividends

No dividend was declared during or after the financial

year under review.

Directors

Biographical notes of the current directors are set out on
page 5.

Changes in directorate

Mr AJ Greeff resigned as a director on 25 June 2008.

Ms L Lynch was appointed as financial director on 
25 June 2008.

In terms of the Company’s Articles of Association, two

directors retire by rotation every three years. No 

directors are eligible for rotation at the forthcoming

annual general meeting.

Directors’ interests in contracts

No material contracts involving directors’ interests were

entered into in the current year.

Company secretary and registered office

Ms L Lynch replaced Mr AJ Greeff on 25 June 2008 as

the company secretary.

The company secretary is Ms L Lynch and her address

and the registered address of the Company is as follows:

The Summit  PO Box 8112

269, 16th Street  Elandsfontein

Randjespark 1406
Midrand
1685

Property, plant and equipment

Details of acquired property, plant and equipment of the

Company during the year are disclosed in notes 2 and

3 to the annual financial statements. There was no

change in the nature of the property, plant and 

equipment of the Company or in the policy regarding

their use during the year under review.

Insurance

In April 2007 an explosion occurred at the resin plant of

the Group in Alberton. The plant and buildings were 

damaged. The Company is insured against such events

and the loss of profits as a result thereof.

Insurance refunds for the Alberton chemical plant 

explosion amounted to R5,9 million during the year

under review. The R1,2 million outstanding as at 30 June

2008 is pending claim finalisation. 
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Major shareholders

Shareholders holding beneficially, directly or indirectly, in excess of 3% of the issued share capital of the Company are

detailed on page 85 of the annual report.

Directors’ shareholding

The indirect beneficial shareholding of the directors in office at the date of this report is as follows:

2008 2007

Executive directors

AJ Greeff* 3 036 774 3 036 774
L Lynch 3 000 –
E van der Merwe 3 196 605 3 196 605

Non-executive directors

L Dyosi 1 355 400 1 355 400
AJ Fourie 21 431 099 21 431 099
BT Ngcuka 4 066 200 4 066 200

33 089 078 33 086 078

* Resigned on 25 June 2008.

Attendance at meetings

The number of meetings attended by each of the directors of the Company during the period 1 July 2007 to 
9 September 2008 is as follows, with the number in brackets reflecting the number of meetings held, whilst the 
director was in office.

Audit and risk Remuneration  
Board committee committee

meetings meetings meetings

BT Ngcuka 3 (5) 2 (3) –
E van der Merwe 5 (5) – –
L Dyosi 4 (5) – 0 (1)
AJ Greeff 4 (4) – –
AJ Fourie 5 (5) 3 (3) 1 (1)
L Lynch 2 (2) – –
D Theodorou (representing the Designated Adviser) 5 (5)* 3 (3) –

* Attended by invitation.

Auditors

BDO Spencer Steward (Jhb) Incorporated
Practice number 905526E
Appointed during March 2007

Postal address: Private Bag X60500  Physical address: 13 Wellington Road
Houghton Parktown
2041 2193
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Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007
Notes R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets 71 134 54 184 123 573 131 530

Plant and equipment 2 40 110 28 404 522 11
Property 3 16 805 16 680 – –
Investments 4 – – 123 041 131 504
Intangible assets 5 14 219 9 100 10 15

Current assets 159 471 86 803 45 368 28 966

Inventories 6 89 267 36 740 – –
Trade and other receivables 7 69 879 49 674 667 431
Financial asset 18 – 36 – –
Short-term loans 8 325 353 44 701 28 535

Total assets 230 605 140 987 168 941 160 496

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves 113 013 79 979 134 493 136 294

Share capital 9 1 036 1 025 1 036 1 025
Share premium 28 603 24 864 28 603 24 864
Treasury shares 10 (368) – – –
Retained income/(loss) 81 549 51 897 (872) (2 022)
Revaluation reserve 11 2 193 2 193 105 726 112 427

Non-current liabilities 26 102 10 903 20 859 20 290

Interest-bearing liabilities 12 20 172 9 628 6 001 4 116
Deferred tax liability 13 5 617 970 14 858 16 174
Provisions 15 313 305 – –

Current liabilties 91 490 50 105 13 589 3 912

Trade and other payables 16 71 485 38 658 1 392 315
Cash and cash equivalents 17 4 380 659 8 320 256
Current portion of interest-bearing liabilities 12 9 082 7 467 3 877 3 341
Financial libility 18 110 – – –
Tax liability 16 5 846 2 900 – –
Provisions 15 587 421 – –

Total equity and liabilities 230 605 140 987 168 941 160 496
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Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Notes R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Revenue 19 314 898 224 727 4 366 2 012

Cost of sales (244 050) (172 011) – –

Gross profit 70 848 52 716 4 366 2 012 

Other operating income 8 106 2 035 2 234 2 000

Operating expenses (33 847) (24 185) (8 435) (2 495)

Operating profit before interest 20 45 107 30 566 (1 835) 1 517 

Interest paid and finance charges 23 (3 879) (4 477) (2 290) (2 816)

Income from investments 24 164 84 5 722 2 545 

Net profit before taxation 41 392 26 173 1 597 1 246 

Tax expenses 25 (11 740) (7 123) (447) 465

Profit for the year 29 652 19 050 1 150 1 711

Attributable to:

Equity holders of parent 29 652 19 050 1 150 1 711

Earnings per share (cents) 27

–  Basic 28,8 20,9

–  Headline 29,2 20,9

–  Diluted 28,8 20,9

–  Diluted headline 29,2 20,9

Dividend per share (cents) 28 – 2,2
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Reva-

Share Share Treasury Retained luation Minority Total

capital premium shares income reserve interest equity

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Group

Balance at 30 July 2005 – – – 22 693 2 193 – 24 886 

At acquisition – – – – –  699 699 

Net profit for the year – – – 14 554 – (13) 14 541 

Dividends declared – – – (2 400) – – (2 400)

Balance at 30 June 2006 – – – 34 847 2 193 686 37 726

Derecognising of minority interest – – – – – (686) (686)

Issue of new shares 125 27 183 – – – – 27 308

Capitalisation of share premium 900 (900) – – – – –

Capitalisation of listing expenditure – (1 419) – – – – (1 419)

Net profit for the year – – – 19 050 – – 19 050

Dividends declared – – – (2 000) – – (2 000)

Balance at 30 June 2007 1 025 24 864 – 51 897 2 193 – 79 979

Issue of new shares 11 3 739 – – – – 3 750

Net profit for the year – – – 29 652 – – 29 652

Increase in treasury shares – – (368) – – – (368)

Balance at 30 June 2008 1 036 28 603 (368) 81 549 2 193 – 113 013

Ordi- Reva-

nary Share Retained luation Total

shares premium loss reserve equity

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Company

Balance at 30 June 2006 – – (1 733) 48 967 47 234

Issue of new shares 125 27 183 – – 27 308

Capitalisation of share premium 900 (900) – – –

Capitalisation of listing expenditure – (1 419) – – (1 419)

Net profit for the year – – 1 711 – 1 711

Dividends declared – – (2 000) – (2 000)

Revaluation of investment – – – 63 460 63 460

Balance at 30 June 2007 1 025 24 864 (2 022) 112 427 136 294

Issue of new shares 11 3 739 – – 3 750

Net profit for the year – – 1 150 – 1 150

Revaluation of investment – – – (6 701) (6 701)

Balance at 30 June 2008 1 036 28 603 (872) 105 726 134 493

Additional information is disclosed in note 9.
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Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Notes R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Cash flow generated from/

(utilised in) operating activities 2 582 9 760 2 448 (750)

Cash received from customers and 

subsidiaries 304 960 204 467 6 525 3 719 

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (293 872) (182 053) (7 509) (2 197) 

Cash generated from/(utilised in) 

operations 35.1 11 088 22 414 (984) 1 522 

Interest received 164 84 5 722 2 545 

Interest paid and finance charges (3 879) (4 477) (2 290) (2 816)

Tax paid 35.2 (4 791) (6 261) – (1) 

Dividends declared and paid – (2 000) – (2 000)

Cash utilised in investing activities (18 094) (13 025) (12 933) (5 996)

Additions to plant and equipment 2 (20 150) (13 876) (515) (13) 

Additions to intangible assets – (16) – (16)

Proceeds from disposal 2 758 880 – –

Loans received /(advanced) 28 (13) (12 418) (5 967)

Cost of acquisition of companies 35.3 (730) – – –

Cash generated from financing activities 11 791 24 346 2 421 23 848

Increase/(decrease) in long-term borrowings 10 544 (2 834) 1 885 (3 073)

Increase in instalment sale agreements 

– short-term portion 1 615 3 599 536 3 340

Issue of shares – 23 581 – 23 581

Increase in treasury shares (368) – – –

Cash (deficit)/surplus for the year (3 721) 21 081 (8 064) 17 102 

Cash and cash equivalents 

– beginning of the year (659) (21 740) (256) (17 358)

Cash and cash equivalents 

– end of the year 16 (4 380) (659) (8 320) (256)
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1 Basis of preparation

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below.
The policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented.

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS and IFRIC – International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee of the IASB –
interpretations) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and in terms of the
Companies Act of South Africa.

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the 
measurement of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss and incorporate the
principal accounting policies set out below.

1.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries from their respective dates of acquisition up to the effective dates of disposal.

Subsidiaries are defined as those companies in which the Group, either directly or indirectly, has more
than one half of the voting rights, has the right to appoint more than half the board of directors or 
otherwise has the power to control the financial and operating activities of the entity.

Transactions within the Group and intercompany balances are eliminated in full.

1.3 Business combinations

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the results of business combinations using the purchase
method. In the consolidated balance sheet, the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities are initially recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date. The results of acquired 
operations are included in the consolidated income statement from the date on which control is obtained.

1.4 Borrowings and borrowing cost

Interest-bearing borrowings are recorded at the proceeds received, net of the direct costs.

Borrowing costs (net of investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets) directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

1.5 Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business combination over the interest in the fair value of
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired. Cost comprises the fair values of assets
given, liabilities assumed and equity instruments issued, plus any direct costs of acquisition. Goodwill is
capitalised as an intangible asset with any impairment in carrying value being charged to the income
statement. Where the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceed the fair
value of consideration paid, the excess is credited in full to the income statement.

Internally generated goodwill is not recognised as an asset.

1.6 Dividends

Equity dividends are recognised when they are declared and are included in the statement of changes in
equity.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.7 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits (those payable within twelve months after the service is 
rendered, such as paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as 
medical care) are recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and is not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render 
services that increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence
occurs.

The expected cost of profit sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal
or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

Defined contribution plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense when incurred.

1.8 Financial instruments

Initial recognition

The Company classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a 
financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangement.

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when it becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the instruments.

Loans to/(from) Group companies

These include loans to holding companies, fellow subsidiaries, subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
and are recognised initially at fair value plus direct transaction costs. Subsequently these loans are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment loss recognised
to reflect irrecoverable amounts.

On loans receivable an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence
that it is impaired. The impairment is measured as the difference between the investment’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate 
computed at initial recognition.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods when an increase in the investment’s recoverable
amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to
the restriction that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed shall not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated
irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is
impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.8 Financial instruments (continued)

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly 
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. These are initially and subsequently recorded at fair value.

Bank overdrafts and borrowings

Bank overdrafts and borrowings are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of 
transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the 
borrowings in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs.

Other financial assets are carried at amortised cost less any accumulated impairment.

Held-for-trading financial assets

Investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an
investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe 
established by the market concerned.

Investments are measured initially and subsequently at fair value, gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value are included in profit or loss for the period.

Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments, consisting of foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps, are 
initially measured at fair value on the contract date, and are re-measured to fair value at subsequent
reporting dates.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other non-financial host contracts are treated as
separate derivatives when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host 
contract and the host contract is not carried at fair value with unrealised gains or losses reported in 
profit or loss. Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are recognised in profit or loss
as they arise.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an
investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe 
established by the market concerned.

These investments are measured initially and subsequently at fair value. Gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value are recognised directly in equity until the security is disposed of or is determined to
be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is included in the
profit or loss for the period.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for equity investments classified as available-for-sale are
not subsequently reversed through profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for debt
instruments classified as available-for-sale are subsequently reversed if an increase in the fair value of the
instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.8 Financial instruments (continued)

Held-to-maturity and loans and receivables

These financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus direct transaction costs.

At subsequent reporting dates these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method, less any impairment loss recognised to reflect irrecoverable amounts. An impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured
as the difference between the investment’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition. Impairment losses are
reversed in subsequent periods when an increase in the investment’s recoverable amount can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the
carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the 
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial assets that the Company has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity are classified
as held to maturity.

Financial assets

Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the
market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those 
financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss, which are initially measured at fair value.
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value through
profit or loss’ (FVTPL), ‘held-to-maturity’ investments, ‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) financial assets and ‘loans
and receivables’. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees
on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction cost and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period. Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those
financial assets designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL where the financial asset is either held for trading or it is 
designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held-for-trading if:

•   it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or

• it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

• such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency
that would otherwise arise; or
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.8 Financial instruments (continued)

• the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is
managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is 
provided internally on that basis; or

• it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability)
to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset. 

Held-to-maturity investments

Bills of exchange and debentures with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates that the
Group has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity investments.
Held-to-maturity investments are recorded at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any
impairment, with revenue recognised on an effective yield basis.

AFS financial assets

Unlisted shares and listed redeemable notes held by the Group that are traded in an active market are
classified as being AFS and are stated at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value
are recognised directly in equity in the investments revaluation reserve with the exception of impairment
losses, interest calculated using the effective interest method and foreign exchange gains and losses on
monetary assets, which are recognised directly in profit or loss. Where the investment is disposed of or
is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in the investments 
revaluation reserve is included in profit or loss for the period.

Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established.

The fair value of AFS monetary assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign
currency and translated at the spot rate at the balance sheet date. The change in fair value attributable
to translation differences that result from a change in amortised cost of the asset is recognised in profit or
loss, and other changes are recognised in equity.

Loans and receivables

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest
would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance
sheet date. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of
the investment have been impacted.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.8 Financial instruments (continued)

For unlisted shares classified as AFS, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security
below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment. For all other financial assets, 
including redeemable notes classified as AFS and finance lease receivables, objective evidence of 
impairment could include:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

• default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be
impaired individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence
of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting 
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit 
period of 60 days, as well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate
with default on receivables. For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment
is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the financial asset
is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of trade receivables,
where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade 
receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the
carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. With he exception of AFS 
equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying
amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost
would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment losses previously recognised through profit or loss are not
reversed through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised
directly in equity.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire; or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangement.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.8 Financial instruments (continued)

Compound instruments

The component parts of compound instruments issued by the Group are classified separately as financial
liabilities and equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. At the date of
issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for a
similar non-convertible instrument. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis using
the effective interest method until extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s maturity date. The
equity component is determined by deducting the amount of the liability component from the fair value of
the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax effects,
and is not subsequently remeasured.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and are subsequently
measured at the higher of:

• the amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37:
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and

• the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in
accordance with the revenue recognition policies.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘other financial liabilities’.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL where the financial liability is either held for trading or it is
designated as at FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

• it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing in the near future; or

• it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon
initial recognition if:

• such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency
that would otherwise arise; or

• the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is 
provided internally on that basis; or

• it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39: Financial
Instruments:

Recognition and measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as
at FVTPL. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss 
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid
on the financial liability.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.8 Financial instruments (continued)

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction
costs. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis. The effective interest method is a
method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or they expire.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separate 
derivatives when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and
the host contracts are not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain hedging instruments, which include derivatives, embedded derivatives and
non-derivatives in respect of foreign currency risk, as either fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, or
hedges of net investments in foreign operations. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments
are accounted for as cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the entity documents the relationship between the hedging
instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for 
undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing
basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument that is used in a hedging relationship is 
highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item.

Fair value hedges

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are 
recorded in profit or loss immediately, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged item that
are attributable to the hedged risk. The change in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the change
in the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognised in the line of the income statement 
relating to the hedged item. Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging 
relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for
hedge accounting. The adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item arising from the hedged
risk is amortised to profit or loss from that date.

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash
flow hedges are deferred in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss, and is included in the “other gains and losses” line of the income statement.
Amounts deferred in equity are recycled in profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item is 
recognised in profit or loss, in the same line of the income statement as the recognised hedged item.
However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset
or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity
and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset or liability.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.8 Financial instruments (continued)

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging 
instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any
cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the 
forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit in loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain
or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised in equity in
the foreign currency translation reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, and is included in the other gains and losses’ line of the income statement.
Gains and losses deferred in the foreign currency translation reserve are recognised in profit or loss on
disposal of the foreign operation.

1.9 Impairment of assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any indication that an asset may be
impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the 
individual asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to
sell and its value in use. If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment test is performed annually on goodwill to identify if the asset must be impaired.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a 
revaluation decrease.

An impairment loss is recognised for cash-generating units if the recoverable amount of the unit is less
than the carrying amount of the units. The impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of
the assets of the unit on the following basis:

• to the assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss 
recognised in prior periods for assets may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation
other than goodwill is recognised immediately in profit and loss. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a
revalued asset is treated as a revaluation increase. 

1.10 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and,
where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs
to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.11 Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are recognised if it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are 
attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are measured at cost.

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an internal project) is recognised as an expense
when it is incurred.

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is
recognised when:

• it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use or sale.

• there is an intention to complete and use or sell it.

• there is an ability to use or sell it.

• it will generate probable future economic benefits.

• there are available technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use
or sell the asset.

• the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

The estimated average useful lives of the classes of assets are as follows:

Web site  3 years

1.12 Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership. A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership. 

The land and buildings elements of property leases are considered separately for the purposes of lease
classification.

Finance leases

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the balance sheet at amounts equal to the fair
value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The 
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation.

The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is the interest rate
implicit in the lease. The lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of
the outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to 
produce a constant periodic rate of on the remaining balance of the liability.

Operating leases

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The
difference between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised
as an operating lease asset or liability. This amount is not discounted. Any contingent rent is expensed in
the period it is incurred.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.13 Property, plant and equipment

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

• it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity; and

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially recognised at cost. Costs include costs incurred initially to
acquire an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred subsequently to add to or replace a
part. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and 
equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment, excluding land and buildings, is carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment, excluding land and buildings, is depreciated on the straight-line basis at
rates considered appropriate to reduce book values to estimated residual values over their estimated 
useful lives. Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in 
relation to the total cost of the item shall be depreciated separately. Depreciation ceases when residual
value equals to more than the carrying value of the specific item of property, plant and equipment.

The useful lives and residual values of the individual items of property, plant and equipment are reviewed
on an annual basis and any revision to these are accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

The estimated average useful lives of the classes of assets are as follows:

Furniture and fittings 6 years
Computer equipment 3 years
Earth-moving equipment 4 years
Vehicles 5 years
Plant and equipment 5 to 15 years
Reconstruction asset 53 months

Property is carried at revalued amount, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are
made at least every five years. Any increase in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result of a revaluation,
is credited directly to equity in the revaluation reserve. The increase is recognised in profit or loss to the
extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss. Any
decrease in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result of a recalculation, is recognised in profit or loss in the
current period. Any decrease in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result of a revaluation, is recognised in
profit or loss in the current period. The decrease is debited directly to equity in the revaluation reserve to
the extent of any credit balance existing in the revaluation surplus in respect of that asset.

Restoration cost

Restoration cost is recognised when a present legal obligation arises to restore the environment to its 
previous status or according to stipulated requirements in the mining license. A reconstruction provision
is recognised at the present value of the estimated obligation and is increased annually with finance
charges calculated at market-related discount rates and is recognised through the income statement.

An asset is recognised at the present value of the estimated restoration obligation and is depreciated in
accordance with the policies applicable to equivalent items of property, plant and equipment and 
investment property.

The estimated obligation will be evaluated annually and any increases or decreases in the obligation will
be recognised through the income statements in the current year.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.14 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the
obligation.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised.

1.15 Revenue recognition

Sales

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts
receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of trade discounts, 
volume rebates and Value Added Tax.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied:

• the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

• the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Other revenue earned by the Group is recognised on the following basis:

Services

Revenue form the rendering of services will be recognised when the outcome of the transaction involving
the service can be estimated reliably.

Monthly services rendered will be recognised on a monthly basis after the service has been performed.

Rentals

On accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement.

Interest income

Interest is recognised, in profit and loss, using the effective interest rate method.

Dividend income

Dividends are recognised on the date when the dividends are received from the investments/subsidiaries
of the holding company.

1.16 Segmental report

Segment accounting policies are consistent with those adopted for the preparation of the Group financial
statements. The primary basis for reporting segment information is business segments and the secondary
basis is by significant geographical region, which is based on the location of assets. The basis is 
consistent with internal reporting for management purposes as well as the source and nature of business  
risks and returns. All intra-segment transactions are eliminated on consolidation.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.17 Share-based payments

The following types of share-based payments are identifiable:

Equity-settled share-based payments

This is when the entity receives goods or services as consideration for equity instruments.

Cash-settled share-based payments

This is when the entity acquires goods or services by incurring liabilities to suppliers based on the price
of the entity’s equity instruments.

Equity/cash – settled share-based payments

This is when the entity receives or acquires goods or services and either the entity or supplier can choice
whether to settle the obligation in cash or equity instruments. 

The Company shall recognise the goods or services received or acquired in a share-based payment 
transaction when it obtains the goods or as the service is received with an corresponding increase in 
equity.

1.18 Significant judgements

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts represented in the financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available 
information and the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates.

Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates which may be material to the financial 
statements. Significant judgements include:

Provisions

Warranty provision

A warranty provision is raised based on prior experience for defective products sold.

Bad debts provision

An estimate is made for doubtful receivables based on a review of all outstanding amounts at year-end,
taking into account the difference between the carrying amount of assets and the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition. Bad
debts are recognised directly in profit and loss in the year in which they are identified.

Loans and receivables

The directors assess the loans and receivables for impairment at each balance sheet date. In 
determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the income statement, the directors make
judgements as to whether there is observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows from the financial asset.

The impairment of loans and receivables is based on the amounts outstanding, which management feels,
will not be collected or only partially collected. Where possible, the impairment is estimated per debtor.
The estimate is based on a review of all outstanding amounts at year-end.

Useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment

The directors estimate the useful lives of the classes of property, plant and equipment, taking into account
the individual items of the class and the present condition along with any major capital expenditure that
is budgeted in the near future.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.18 Significant judgements (continued)

Residual values of items of property, plant and equipment

The residual values of the individual items of property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually by the
directors. The estimate is made after taking into account the condition of the item, age and judgement
relating to useful lives.

Decommissioning and rehabilitation obligations

The directors estimate annually any decommissioning and rehabilitation obligations which might exist at
year-end. The estimate is made after taking into account the extent of the obligation and any requirements
relating to the obligation.

Taxation

Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes due to the complexity of legislation.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such 
determination is made.

The Group recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred tax assets to the extent that it is 
probable that the deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing the
recoverability of deferred tax assets requires the Group to make significant estimates related to 
expectations of future taxable income.

Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application
of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ 
significantly from estimates, the ability of the Group to realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the
balance sheet date could be impacted.

Estimated tax loss

The Group bases the tax expenses and deferred tax calculation on the estimated tax loss of the 
individual subsidiaries. The estimated tax loss is calculated as per the South African Revenue Service 
stipulations, indicated in the Income Tax Act No 58 of 1962. Once SARS has assessed the 
Company and agrees with the calculation of the estimated assessed loss, SARS grants the Company an
assessed loss. Should the situation occur that SARS does not agree with the estimated assessed loss, it will
be rectified in the first tax expense calculation being performed with clear indication of such an event.

Impairment testing

The recoverable amounts of individual assets have been determined based on the higher of value-in-use
calculations and fair values. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. It is 
reasonably possible that the assumption may change which may then impact on estimates and may then
require a material adjustment to the carrying value of assets.

1.19 Translation of foreign currencies

The Group’s functional and presentation currency is represented by South African Rand.

Foreign currency transactions

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition in Rands, by applying to the foreign
currency amount the spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the
date of the transaction.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.19 Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

At each balance sheet date:

• foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate;

• non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction; and

• non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates
different from those at which they were translated on initial recognition during the period or in previous
financial statements are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Foreign operation

Procedures that are applied when translating results of an integrated foreign operation are as follows:

• Monetary items are translated at the closing rate.

• Non-monetary items recorded at historical cost are translated at historical rates. Depreciation in
the income statement is translated on the basis of the historical rate.

• Revalued non-monetary items are translated at the exchange rates ruling on the dates of their
revaluation.

• Income statement items are translated at an average exchange rate for the period.

Exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of a net investment in a foreign 
operation are recognised directly in profit or loss.

1.20 Taxation

Tax expenses

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the
period, except to the extent that the tax arises from:

• a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, directly in equity, or

• a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that
are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, directly to equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount
already paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess
is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to
be paid to (recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxation asset and liabilities

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the
deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the
time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be
utilised. A deferred tax asset is not recognised when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit
(tax loss).
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.20 Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is 
settled or the asset is realised.

Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or
credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is recognised in equity.

1.21 Standards, interpretations and amendments effective in 2008

The following amendments and interpretations to standards are currently not relevant to the
Group’s operations:

New standards issued but not yet Effective for annual periods
effective, comprises: beginning on/after 

IFRS 8 – Operating segments 1 January 2009

Interpretations issued but not yet effective, comprises:

IFRIC 8 – Scope of IFRS 2 – Share-based payments 1 May 2006

IFRIC 9 – Reassessment of embedded derivatives 1 June 2006

IFRIC 10 – Interim financial reporting and impairment 1 November 2006

IFRIC 11 – Group and treasury share transactions 1 March 2007

IFRIC 13 – Customer Loyalty Programmes 1 July 2008

IFRIC 14 – The limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding 
Requirements and their Interaction 1 January 2008

IFRIC 16 – Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation 1 October 2008

Amendments to existing standards issued, but 
not yet effective, comprises: 

IFRS 1 – First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards 1 January 2009

IFRS 2 – Share-based Payments 1 January 2009

IFRS 3 – Business Combinations 1 July 2009

IFRS 5 – Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale and Discontinued Operations 1 July 2009

IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosures 1 January 2009

IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2009

IAS 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors 1 January 2009

IAS 10 – Events after the Reporting Period 1 January 2009

IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment 1 January 2009

IAS 18 – Revenue 1 January 2009

IAS 19 – Employee Benefits 1 January 2009

IAS 23 – Borrowing Costs 1 January 2009

IAS 27 – Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 1 January 2009

IAS 31 – Interests in Joint Ventures 1 January 2009

IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: Presentation 1 January 2009

IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets 1 January 2009

IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 1 January 2009

IAS 40 – Investment Property 1 January 2009

For all the above standards indicated, the Group does not intend adopting the standards early.
Management is of the opinion that the adoption of these standards will not have a significant impact on
the consolidated financial statements.
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Earth- Plant 

Furniture Computer moving and Recon-

and equip- equip- equip- struction

fittings ment Vehicles ment ment asset Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group

Opening balance at 1 July 2006

Cost 138 327 4 605 4 421 18 922 266 28 679

Accumulated depreciation (50) (204) (2 399) (341) (7 974) (55) (11 023)

Carry value 88 123 2 206 4 080 10 948 211 17 656

Year ended 30 June 2007

Opening net book value 88 123 2 206 4 080 10 948 211 17 656

Additions 122 160 3 987 1 934 7 673 – 13 876

Disposals – (19) (1 053) – (80) – (1 152)

Depreciation (28) (94) (693) (647) (745) (60) (2 267)

Depreciation of disposals – 4 275 – 12 – 291

Closing net book value 182 174 4 722 5 367 17 808 151 28 404

Opening balance at 1 July 2007

Cost 260 468 7 539 6 355 26 515 266 41 403

Accumulated depreciation (78) (294) (2 817) (988) (8 707) (115) (12 999)

Net book value 182 174 4 722 5 367 17 808 151 28 404

Year ended 30 June 2008

Opening net book value 182 174 4 722 5 367 17 808 151 28 404

Additions 127 759 4 205 2 437 8 754 – 16 282

Disposals – (157) (2 699) (2 720) (1 315) – (6 891)

Depreciation (138) (129) (913) (985) (1 615) (60) (3 840)

Depreciation of disposals – 134 1 619 621 38 – 2 412

Acquisition of subsidiary

–  Cost 544 143 117 – 4 677 – 5 481

–  Accumulated depreciation (492) (143) – – (1 103) – (1 738)

Closing net book value 223 781 7 051 4 720 27 244 91 40 110

At 30 June 2008

Cost 931 1 213 9 162 6 072 38 631 266 56 275

Accumulated depreciation (708) (432) (2 111) (1 352) (11 387) (175) (16 165)

Net book value 223 781 7 051 4 720 27 244 91 40 110
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Furniture Computer

and equip-

fittings ment Total

R’000 R’000 R’000

2. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
(continued)

Company

Year ended 30 June 2007

Additions – 13 13

Depreciation – (2) (2)

Closing net book value – 11 11

Opening balance at 1 July 2007

Cost – 13 13

Accumulated depreciation – (2) (2)

Net book value – 11 11

Year ended 30 June 2008

Opening net book value – 11 11

Additions 14 501 515

Depreciation – (4) (4)

Closing net book value 14 508 522

At 30 June 2008

Cost 14 514 528

Accumulated depreciation – (6) (6)

Net book value 14 508 522

Total property, plant and equipment held by the Group at 30 June 2008 amounted to R40,1 million (2007: R28,4 

million), comprising the amounts analysed above.

Plant and equipment with a carry value of R6,9 million (2007: R5 million) have been encumbered with a notarial bond to the

value of R1,4 million in favour of Engen Petroleum as security for trade creditors.

Additions include R4,3 million (2007: R6,2 million) assets under instalment sale agreements and disposals with a cost of 

R0,9 million (2007: R0,5 million) were settled under instalment sale agreements. The assets acquired under instalment sale

agreements are encumbered as security for repayment of the instalment sale liabilities. (Refer note 12)

Depreciation expense of R2,7 million (2007: R1,3 million) has been charged in the cost of goods sold and R1,1 million (2007:

R1,0 million) in administration expenses. Carry values of assets leased under finance leases are disclosed under interest-

bearing liabilities.

A register containing the information required by paragraph 22(3) of Schedule 4 of the Companies Act is available for 

inspection at the registered office of the Company. 

During the year under review the directors performed an impairment test on the assets of the Group and found that none of the

Group’s assets were impaired and no impairment loss was recognised. 

 



NOTES TO THE 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2008

48

Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited | ANNUAL REPORT 2008

Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

3. PROPERTY

Cost 9 143 9 143 – –

Revaluation 7 537 7 537 – –

At beginning of year 16 680 16 680 – –

Addition – at cost 125 – – –

At end of year 16 805 16 680 – –

Total property held by the Group at 30 June 2008 amounted to R16,8 million (2007: R16,7 million), 

comprising the amounts analysed above.

Property of Rolfes Asset Holding to the amount of R6,9 million (2007: R5 million) has been pledged as 

security for Group borrowings.

A register containing the information required by paragraph 22(3) of Schedule 4 of the Companies Act is 

available for inspection at the registered office of the Company.

The directors are of the opinion that the property is stated at fair market value and not impaired.

The entire amount disclosed above relates to investment property and as the value of office buildings in the

Group is immaterial, it is included in the plant and equipment note under plant and equipment. The value of 

buildings amounted to R0,9 million (2007: R0,8 million), which equals their residual value.

The directors are of the opinion that the fair market value equals the estimated residual values and thus no 

depreciation is recognised.

At year-end, the directors revalued the property using the net cash flow method, taking into account rentals in

an active market and recent transactions occuring at arm’s length in an active market.
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Group Company

Number 2008 2007 2008 2007

of shares R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

4. INVESTMENTS 

Unlisted

At cost

Rolfes Colour Pigments 

International (Pty) Limited 1 000 – – 1 1

Rolfes Asset Holding (Pty) Limited 100 – – – –

Rolfes Chemicals (Pty) Limited 100 – – – –

Rolfes Silica (Pty) Limited 200 000 – – 2 308 2 308

Rolfes Europe Trading (Pty) Limited 100 – – – –

Leather-Chem (Pty) Limited 100 – – – –

– – 2 309 2 309

At fair value

Rolfes Colour Pigments International 

(Pty) Limited – – 54 753 39 706

Rolfes Asset Holding (Pty) Limited – – 58 397 28 020

Rolfes Chemicals (Pty) Limited – – – 27 086

Rolfes Silica (Pty) Limited – – 9 891 36 692

Rolfes Europe Trading (Pty) Limited  – – – –

Leather-Chem (Pty) Limited – – – –

– – 123 041 131 504

Fair values are determined annually at balance sheet date, using the discounted future cash flow analysis.

Refer to page 84 for details of shareholding.
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Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill
Opening balance 9 085 7 468 – –

Recognition of goodwill

–  additional 20% of Rolfes Silica 

(Pty) Limited – 1 617 – –

–  acquisition of Leather-Chem 

(Pty) Limited 5 124 – – –

Closing balance 14 209 9 085 – –

Goodwill arose during 2007 with the 

acquisition of the remaining 20% of 

Rolfes Silica (Pty) Limited.

Goodwill arose during 2008 with the 

acquisition of Leather-Chem (Pty) Limited, 

a subsidiary of Rolfes Colour Pigments 

International (Pty) Limited. (Refer note 33)

Web site
Opening balance 15 – 15 –

Additions – 16  – 16

Amortisation (5) (1) (5) (1) 

Closing balance 10 15 10 15 

The website was acquired during the 

prior year and is amortised over a 

period of three years. Due to the 

immateriality of the amortisation, it is 

included in depreciation.

Total intangible assets 14 219 9 100 10 15

The directors review the intangible assets annually to identify any impairment losses to be recognised. No 

indication of impairment of goodwill was identified.
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Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

6. INVENTORIES

Raw materials 38 920 14 390 – – 
Work-in-progress 7 923 5 176 – – 
Finished goods 42 424 17 174 – – 

89 267 36 740 – – 

Stock written off during the year 1 773 1 551 – –

The cost of inventories recognised as an 
expense during the year and included in
cost of sales amounted to R234,5
million (2007: R156,9 million).

No cost of inventory was recognised as an 
expense in respect of write-downs of 
inventory to net realisable value in the 
current or prior year.

Inventories of R2,5 million 
(2007: Rnil) are expected to be 
recovered after more than twelve months.

7. TRADE AND OTHER 
RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables 63 509 43 324 445 359
Foreign trade receivables 

(2008: €129 234; 2007: €371 955) 1 607 3 544 – –
Deposits 563 202 – –
Finco Trust (137) 7 40 50
Provision for bad debts (493) (275) – –
Insurance claim 2 398 2 822 – –
South African Revenue Services

(SARS):VAT 2 432 50 182 22

69 879 49 674 667 431

Trade receivables have been ceded to the bank as security for bank overdrafts. (Refer note 17)

7.1  Trade receivables

Trade receivables (net of allowances) held by the Group amounted to R69,9 million (2007: R49,8 
million) comprising the amounts as presented above.
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7. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

7.1  Trade receivables (continued)

The average credit period on sale of goods is 60 days. No interest is charged on trade receivables. The 
Group has provided for all possible non-recoverable trade debtors as a percentage of trade receivables
as at year-end. 

Before accepting any new customers, the Group uses an external credit scoring system to assess the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributable to
customers are reviewed twice a year and on an ad hoc basis. 70% of the trade receivables that are 
neither past due nor impaired have good credit scoring attributable under the external credit scoring 
system used by the Group.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables, with carrying amounts of R2,3 million (2007: R1,6 
million), which are past due at the reporting date and not provided for, as there has been no significant
change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances. The average age of these receivables is 66,2 days (2007: 66,8 days).

Group

2008 2007

R’000 R’000

Ageing of past due but not impaired
60 to 90 days 5 193 3 743
90 to 120 days 2 301 1 570

Total 7 494 5 313

Movement in the allowance of 
doubtful debt 

Balance at beginning of the year 275 423
Amounts written off as uncollectable (218) 65
Amounts recovered during the year – (65)
Movement in provision 436 (148)

Balance at the end of year 493 275

Impairment losses recognised on 
receivables 56 374

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of
the trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The concentration of 
credit risk is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated. Accordingly, the directors believe that
there is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts.
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2008 2007 2008 2007

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

8. SHORT-TERM LOANS 

Rolfes Colour Pigments International 
(Pty) Limited – – 7 967 1 252 

Rolfes Asset Holding (Pty) Limited – – (7 562) (2 457)
Rolfes Chemicals (Pty) Limited – – 25 599 14 113 
Rolfes Silica (Pty) Limited – – 18 697 15 627 
Staff loan 325 353 – –

325 353 44 701 28 535

These loans are unsecured, carry interest 
at market rates with no fixed terms of 
repayment.

The Group has provided some of its key 
management personnel with short-term 
loans at rates comparable to the average 
commercial rate of interest.

Further information about these loans 
is contained in note 31.

9. SHARE CAPITAL 

Authorised

500 000 000 (2007: 500 000 000) 
ordinary shares of R0,01 each 5 000 5 000 5 000 5 000

Issued

103 609 467 (2007: 102 500 000) 
ordinary shares of R0,01 each 1 036 1 025 1 036 1 025

9.1  Fully paid ordinary shares

Number Share Share

of shares capital premium

Balance at 1 July 2006 20 – –
Issue of shares 12 501 125 27 183
Capitalisation of share premium 89 979 900 (900)
Capitalisation of listing expenditure – – (1 419)

Balance at 30 June 2007 102 500 1 025 24 864
Issue of shares 1 109 11 3 739

Balance at 30 June 2008 103 609 1 036 28 603

Fully paid ordinary shares, which have a par value of R0,01, carry one vote per share and carry the right
to dividends.
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Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

10. TREASURY SHARES

Listed

At fair value

Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited 368 – – –

Rolfes Asset Holding (Pty) Limited 
purchased shares in the Company.

The share purchase adheres to the 
requirements as per the JSE and the Articles 
of Association of the Company.

11. REVALUATION RESERVE

Investment in shares

Revaluation – – 120 732 129 196
Deferred tax – – (15 006) (16 769)

Carrying value at 30 June – – 105 726 112 427

Property

Revaluation 3 089 3 089 – –  
Deferred tax (896) (896) – –  

Carrying value at 30 June 2 193 2 193 – –  

Total carrying value at 30 June 2 193 2 193 105 726 112 427

12. INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

Secured

Instalment sale agreements 29 254 17 095 9 878 7 457
Short-term portion of instalment 

sale agreements (9 082) (7 467) (3 877) (3 341)

20 172 9 628 6 001 4 116

Instalment sale agreements are secured over motor vehicles and equipment and bear interest between 12,5%
and 15,3% (2007: 9,3% and 12,8%) per annum.

Finance leases relate to motor vehicles and equipment with lease terms of four years on average. The Group’s 
obligation under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. The Group has an option to
purchase the motor vehicles and equipment for a nominal amount at conclusion of the agreement.
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2008 2007 2008 2007

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

12. INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES
(continued)

An instalment sale agreement was obtained 
for the purchase of Leather-Chem (Pty) 
Limited. This bears interest at 14% per 
annum and is repayable over 60 months 
ending 1 January 2013.

Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited has an 

overdraft facility reducing by R340 000 

per month with a remaining term of 

30 months at year-end.

Refer to note 17 for security over this 

overdraft facility.

Total minimum payments 

Total payments

–  Lease payments 35 548 19 869 10 200 8 500

–  Finance cost (6 294) (2 774) (322) (1 043)

Present value 29 254 17 095 9 878 7 457

Payments – Up to one year

–  Minimum lease payments 11 650 9 079 4 080 4 080

–  Finance cost (2 568) (1 612) (203) (739)

Present value 9 082 7 467 3 877 3 341

Payments – two to five years

–  Minimum lease payments 23 898 10 790 6 120 4 420

–  Finance cost (3 726) (1 162) (119) (304)

Present value 20 172 9 628 6 001 4 116

The fair value of the finance lease liabilities is approximately equal to their carrying amount.
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Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

13. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY

Movement on the deferred tax account is  
indicated below:

Opening balance 970 (1 397) 16 174 8 173
Provisions (112) (325) – – 
Originating temporary difference on 

tangible fixed assets 1 722 2 824 – –
Revaluation on investment property (85) – – –
Revaluation on investments – – (1 763) 8 465
Decrease/(increase) in tax losses available 

for set-off against future taxable income 941 2 447 447 (464)
Unredeemable capital allowances 2 236 (2 543)  – – 
Capital loss (55) (36) –

5 617 970 14 858 16 174

Reconciliation of deferred tax liability:

Provisions (553) (441) – – 
Property, plant and equipment  11 799 10 077 – –  
Revaluation reserve  811 896 – –  
Investments – – 15 006 16 769
Tax losses available for set-off against 

future taxable income (148) (1 089) (148) (595) 
Unredeemable capital allowances (6 201) (8 437) – –
Capital loss (91) (36) – –

5 617 970 14 858 16 174

14. ESTIMATED TAX LOSS AND
CAPITAL REDEMPTION FUND

Rolfes Chemicals (Pty) Limited – 1 703 – –
Rolfes Silica (Pty) Limited – – – –
Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited 529 2 052 529 2 052

Estimated tax loss 529 3 755 529 2 052

The estimated tax loss arose from losses 
incurred by trading circumstances of the 
individual companies and will be utilised 
in future periods against taxable profit.

Unredeemed capital expenditure
–  Rolfes Silica (Pty) Limited 22 146 29 093 – –
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2008 2007 2008 2007

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

15. PROVISIONS

Warranty provision
Opening balance 1 July 421 354 – –

Increases 190 155 – –

Utilised during the year (24) (88) – –

Closing balance 30 June 587 421 – –

Reconstruction provision
Opening balance 1 July 305 285 – –

Finance charges 8 20 – –

Closing balance 313 305 – –

Due within one year or less 587 421 – –

Due after more than a year 313 305 – –

Total provisions 900 726 – –

16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables 52 310 33 307 989 313

Foreign creditors

–  US Dollar 

(2008: $1 877 344; 2007: $463 439) 14 335 3 261 – –

–  Euro 

(2008: €342 635; 2007: €127 766) 4 261 1 217 – –

Accruals 483 746 403 2

Deposits 96 127 – –

71 485 38 658 1 392 315

SARS : Income tax 5 846 2 900 – –

77 331 41 558 1 392 315

Plant and equipment with a carrying amount of R6,9 million (2007: R5 million) have been pledged by way of

a notarial bond to the value of R1,36 million in favour of Engen Petroleum.

 



NOTES TO THE 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2008

58

Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited | ANNUAL REPORT 2008

Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

17. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, 

cash and cash equivalents include cash on 

hand and in banks, net of outstanding 

bank overdrafts.

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 

the financial year as shown in the cash 

flow statement can be reconciled to the 

related items in the balance sheet 

as follows:

Bank overdraft 7 987 1 194 8 320 256

Call account (73) (68) – –

Euro account 

(2008: €102 208; 2007: €8 866) (1 271) (84) – –

Dollar account 

(2008: US$277 237; 

2007: US$48 767) (2 180) (343) – –
Petty cash (83) (40) – –

4 380 659 8 320 256

Banking facilities are available as follows:

–  Multi-Optional facility 35 000 10 000 35 000 10 000

Available by way of overdraft  

and/or Letter of Credit/Guarantees.

Shared with Rolfes Colour Pigments 

International (Pty) Limited, Rolfes 

Silica (Pty) Limited, Rofles Chemicals 

(Pty) Limited, Rolfes Asset Holding 

(Pty) Limited and Leather-Chem 

(Pty) Limited

–  Overdraft facility 9 878 7 457 9 878 7 457

Reducing at R340 000 per month 

and repayable over a remaining 

term of 30 months
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2008 2007 2008 2007

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

17. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
(continued)

–  Reducing overdraft facility – 15 000 – 15 000

–  Asset-based facility (revolving 

credit line) 14 000 10 000 – –

Shared with Rolfes Colour Pigments 

International (Pty) Limited, Rolfes 

Chemicals (Pty) Limited, Rolfes Silica 

(Pty) Limited and Rolfes Asset Holding 

(Pty) Limited

–  Medium-term loan facility 10 310 – – –

Running down with remaining term 

of 54 months

Facilities are secured as follows:

–  Unlimited cross suretyship (incorporating cession of loan funds) by: Rolfes Asset Holding (Pty) Limited, 

Rolfes Silica (Pty) Limited, Rolfes Chemicals (Pty) Limited, Rolfes Colour Pigments International (Pty) Limited,

Leather-Chem (Pty) Limited and Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited.

–  First covering mortgage bond of R4,6 million and a second covering mortgage bond of R1 million over

remaining portion 273 I.R. Remaining extent of portion 174 and 147 of the farm Rietfontein 63 I.R.

Edenvale, Modderfontein with Rolfes Asset Holding (Pty) Limited reflected as mortgagor and Nedbank

reflected as mortgagee.

–  Cession of insurance policy required in terms of covering mortgage bond.

–  Agreement of pledge, cession and set-off by Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited, Rolfes Colour Pigments

International (Pty) Limited, Rolfes Silica (Pty) Limited, Rolfes Chemicals (Pty) Limited, Rolfes Asset Holding

(Pty) Limited and Leather-Chem (Pty) Limited, limited to R10 million.

–  Cession of all present and future debtors.

–  Cession of customer foreign currency account.
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Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

18. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES/
(ASSETS)

Forward exchange contracts 110 (36) – –

The notional principal amounts of the 
outstanding forward foreign exchange 
contracts at 30 June 2008 are 
US$747 738 (2007: US$557 337); 
€Nil (2007: €127 766).

19. REVENUE

Revenue arises from the following activities:

Sale of goods 312 734 223 051 – –

Rentals 2 164 1 676 – –

Management fee – – 4 366 2 012

314 898 224 727 4 366 2 012

Management fee, as indicated above, 

represents the intercompany 

management fee.

20. OPERATING PROFIT FOR 
THE YEAR

Operating profit before interest is arrived  

at after taking the following items 

into account:

Gains in foreign currency transaction/

translation 1 824 46 – –

–  Realised 4 229 (172) – –

–  Unrealised 73 210 – –

–  Foreign currency translation (2 478) 8 – –

Management fee 2 230 – 2 230 –

Dividend received – – – 2 000

Depreciation 3 845 2 267 9 2
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2008 2007 2008 2007

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

20. OPERATING PROFIT FOR 
THE YEAR (continued)

Audit fees 285 371 285 108

–  for audit 285 357 285 104
–  for other services – 14 – 4

Legal fees 336 168 – –

Loss on fair value through profit and loss of 
listed investments available for sale 38 – – –

Research and development costs expensed
immediately 861 724 – –

Direct expenses relating to rental income 2 035 900 – –

Finance costs relating to rental income 391 418 – –

(Loss)/gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment (422) 11 – (2)

Change in financial liability/(asset) at fair 
value through profit and loss (146) 36 – –

Directors’ emoluments for services 

as director 6 217 4 112 2 752 1 096

–  Basic salaries 3 999 3 017 1 694 789
–  Bonuses 1 619 546 800 135
–  Allowances 599 458 258 132
–  Fringe benefits – 91 – 40

Other staff costs 29 795 24 239 3 596 2 174

–  Medical consultation – 35 – –
–  Refreshments and entertainment 126 97 4 –
–  Salaries and wages 14 662 10 094 3 592 2 174
–  Salaries and wages (included in 

cost of sales) 15 007 14 013 – –

Contributions to provident fund 307 415 – –

Contributions to pension fund 751 650 206 72

Operating lease arrangements

Minimum lease payments under operating 
leases recognised in profit and loss for 
the year 1 348 414 – –
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Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

20. OPERATING PROFIT FOR 
THE YEAR (continued)

At the balance sheet date, the Group had 
outstanding commitments for future 
minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases, which fall 
due as follows:

Within one year 1 803 433 – –
In the second to fifth years 4 560 686 – –

Intercompany transactions – – 4 331 2 012

–  Management fees – – 4 366 2 012
–  Telephone and security – – (35) –

Cancellable operating lease cost for the
year is represented by rentals payable by 
the subsidiaries for certain plant and 
equipment. 6 993 6 633 – –

–  Premises 1 249 1 211 – –
–  Equipment 5 744 5 422 – –

21. THE GROUP AS A LESSOR

Leasing arrangements

Operating leases relate to the investment 
property owned by the Group with lease 
terms of one year, with an option to 
extend for a further one year. All 
operating lease contracts contain market 
review clauses in the event that the 
lessee exercises its option to renew.
The lessee does not have an option to 
purchase the property at the expiry period.

The property rental income earned by 
the Group from its investment property,
all of which is leased out under operating 
leases, amounted to 2 164 1 675 – –
Direct operating expenses arising on the 
investment property, amounted to 2 035 900 – –
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2008 2007 2008 2007

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

22. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Court proceedings – legal costs incurred 

to date 250 – – –

An entity in the Group is a defendant in a 

legal action involving one of its 

directors, Mrs S Matthews. The directors 

believe, based on legal advice, that the 

action can be successfully defended and 

therefore no losses (including costs) will 

be incurred. The legal claim is expected to 

be settled in the course of the next year.

23. INTEREST PAID

Interest paid includes interest paid to: 3 879 4 477 2 290 2 816

Creditors, outstanding balances and

shareholders’ loans – 695 – 695

Finance charges 1 481 1 140 – –

Current account 2 390 2 622 2 290 2 121

Rehabilitation provision 8 20 – –

24. INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS

Income from investments 164 84 5 722 2 545

Subsidiaries’ loan accounts – – 5 681 2 510

Current account 164 84 41 35

Investment revenue earned on financial 

assets, categorised as loans and 

receivables (including cash and bank 

balances ) 164 84 5 722 2 545

Revenue recognised in respect of financial assets designated at fair value through profit and loss is disclosed in
note 18.
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Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

25. TAXATION

Taxation 11 740 7 123 447 (465)

South African normal taxation 7 737 4 834 – (1)

Deferred taxation 4 003 2 366 447 (464)

South African Secondary Tax on 

Companies (STC) – 250 – –

Prior year adjustment – (327) – –

Tax rate reconciliation % % % %

Effective rate 28,37 27,22 28,19 (37,32)

Statutory rate 29,00 29,00 29,00 29,00

–  (Exempt income)/non-allowable 

expenditure (5,26) 0,72 – (46,55)

–  Tax allowances (0,16) (0,13) – –

–  Capital redemption allowance 7,61 (2,90) – –

–  Recognition of tax loss available for 

utilisation in future periods – 1,66 (0,88) (19,77)

–  STC on dividends – 0,96 – –

–  Difference in asset treatment for tax – 0,16 – –

–  Change in rate of deferred tax (2,82) – 0,07 –

–  Current year adjustment to deferred tax – (2,25) – –

26. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant

and equipment (442) 11 – (2)

Net foreign exchange gains 1 824 46 – –

Change in fair value through profit and loss

of listed investments available for sale 38 – – –
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2008 2007 2008 2007

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

27. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Numerator
Profit for the year 29 652 19 050

Earnings used in basic and diluted earnings

per share 29 652 19 050

Loss/(gain) from sale of fixed asset 442 (10)

Earnings used in headline earnings 

per share 30 094 19 040

2008 2007

’000 ’000

Denominator
Opening balance 20 20

Issue of shares on 1 July 2006 1 1

Share capitalisation

Share issue on 11 April 2007 89 979 89 979

Share issue on 23 May 2007 12 500 1 301

Issue of shares on 12 December 2007 632 –

Treasury shares (30) –

Weighted average number of shares used 

in earnings per share and diluted earnings

per share (‘000) 103 102 91 301

28. DIVIDENDS PER SHARE

Dividends declared on 28 February 2007 – 1 600

Dividends declared on 30 April 2007 – 400

Final dividend proposed and paid during 

the year relating to the previous 

year’s results – 2 000

Issued number of shares (‘000) 103 132 90 000
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AJ * E van der 
Greeff L Lynch ** Merwe Total
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

29. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Executive directors
Services as directors

Remuneration
–  Basic 627 – 1 067 1 694
–  Bonuses 200 – 600 800
–  Allowances 114 – 144 258

For the year ended June 2008 941 – 1 811 2 752

Remuneration
–  Basic 489 – 300 789
–  Bonus 135 – – 135
–  Allowances 132 – – 132
–  Fringe benefits 40 – – 40

For the year ended June 2007 796 – 300 1 096

Executive directors
Other services

For the year ended June 2008 – – – –

* Resigned on 25 June 2008.
** Appointed on 25 June 2008 and therefore the remuneration is immaterial.

Non-executive directors did not receive any directors’ remuneration for the years presented. The directors did
not receive remuneration from subsidiaries.

Employment contracts of the individual executive directors all incorporate the same information and restrictions.

The contract includes a restraint of trade paragraph to ensure the Group does not incur losses or loss of 

business due to the resignation of its directors. The contracts do not indicate any term of employment and 

employment will cease with the resignation or dismissal of the director. The contract does not specify any age or

time period to indicate retirement of directors.

30. GROUP RISK

The Group is exposed, through its operations, to one or more of the following financial risks:

–  Interest rate risk

–  Foreign currency risk

–  Liquidity risk

–  Credit risk

–  Price risk
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30. GROUP RISK (continued)

Policy for managing these risks is set by the board following recommendations from the Chief Executive Officer

and the Financial Director. Certain risks are managed centrally, while others are managed locally following

guidelines communicated from the centre. The policy for each of the above risks is described in more 

detail below. 

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern

while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The

Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2007.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in note 12, cash and

cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and

retained earnings as disclosed in notes 9 and 11, respectively.

Gearing ratio

The Group’s directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the directors

consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Due to the fact that the Group is

still in its growing phase, the target gearing ratio is not yet achieved.

Group

2008 2007

R’000 R’000

The gearing ratio at the year-end was as follows:

Interest-bearing debt 33 634 17 754

Net debt 33 634 17 754

Equity 113 013 79 979

Net debt to equity ratio 0,3 0,2

Debt is defined as long- and short-term interest-bearing borrowings and bank overdraft, as detailed in notes 12

and 17. Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group.

Significant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the

basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of

financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements.
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Group

2008 2007

R’000 R’000

30. GROUP RISK (continued)

Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets

Fair value through profit or loss – 36

Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 67 772 49 977

Financial liabilities

Fair value through profit or loss 110 –

Loans and receivables designated as at fair value through profit or loss 75 465 39 317

At the reporting date there are no significant concentrations of credit risk for loans and receivables designated

at fair value through profit or loss. The carrying amount reflected above represents the Group’s maximum 

exposure to credit risk for such loans and receivables.

Financial risk management objectives

The Group’s financial department provides services to the business, co-ordinates access to domestic and 

international financial markets, monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group.

These risks include market risk (including currency risk and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk, liquidity risk

and cash flow interest rate risk.

The Group seeks to minimise the effects of these risks by using derivative financial instruments to hedge these

risk exposures. Compliance with policies and exposure limits is reviewed on a continuous basis. The Group does

not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

Market risk

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and

interest rates. The Group enters into foreign exchange contracts to manage its exposure to foreign currency risk,

including:

•  forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge the exchange rate risk arising on the import of goods from

mainly Europe and China.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and 

measures the risk.

Foreign currency risk management

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Hence, exposures to exchange

rate fluctuations arise. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters utilising 

forward foreign exchange contracts.
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30. GROUP RISK (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities
at the reporting date are as follows: 

Liabilities Assets

2008 2007 2008 2007
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000

Euro (€) 205 424 433 490 
Dollar ($) – – 277 49

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to currency in Euro and Dollars.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease against the relevant foreign
currencies. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the period-end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations within the Group where the denomination of the
loan is in a currency other than the currency of the lender or the borrower. A positive number below indicates
an increase in profit and other equity where the currency strengthens 10% against the relevant currency. For a
10% weakening of the currency against the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on
the profit and other equity, and the balances below would be negative.

Group

2008 2007

R’000 R’000

Profit  247 63

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the

year-end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Credit risk
Financial assets which potentially subject the Group to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of trade
receivables, ie credit sales, which was R69,9 million (2007: R49,7 million).

It is Group policy to assess the credit risk of new customers before entering into contracts. Such credit ratings,
taking into account local business practices, are factored into a credit risk profile. The Group uses Kreditinform
to determine the credit rating of its new applicants. The credit risk, with respect to trade receivables, is limited
due to the fact that the customer base is spread over a wide variety of small and large receivables. The Group
does not enter into complex derivatives to manage credit risk.

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial
loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with credit-worthy counterparties and 
obtaining sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from
defaults. This information is supplied by independent rating agencies, where available, and, if not available, the
Group uses other publicly available financial information and its own trading records to rate its major customers.
Collateral held by the Group consists of sureties signed by certain customers.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across diverse industries and geographical
areas. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable.
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30. GROUP RISK (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group has minimised its liquidity risk by ensuring it has adequate banking facilities and reserve borrowing

capacity with high quality financial institutions or related companies.

The liquidity risk of the Group is managed centrally by the Financial Director. Budgets are set and agreed by the

board annually in advance, enabling the Group’s cash requirements to be anticipated. Where facilities for the

Group need to be increased, approval must be sought from the Chief Executive Officer. Where the amount of

the facility is above a certain level, agreement of the board is needed.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing

facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of 

financial assets and liabilities. Included in note 17 is a listing of additional undrawn facilities that the Group has

at its disposal to further reduce liquidity risk.

The Group has access to financing facilities, the total unused amount which is R30,6 million at the balance sheet

date. The Group expects to meet its other obligations from operating cash flows and proceeds of maturing 

financial assets. 

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

• the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on

active liquid markets is determined with reference to quoted market prices; and

• the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) is 

determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis

using prices from observable current market transactions and dealer quotes for similar instruments.

Interest rate risk

The Group limits its long-term interest-bearing liabilities as far as possible to limit the exposure to interest rate

risk. The Group has made arrangements with its bankers to limit the exposure to interest rate risk, but this does

not eliminate the risk, since the Group’s interest rate is linked to prime.

The Company limits its interest rate risk by carefully monitoring its cash requirements to limit unnecessary 

overdraft facilities resulting in unnecessary interest expenses.

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the Group borrow funds at floating interest rates. 
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30. GROUP RISK (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivatives

and non-derivative instruments at the balance sheet date. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared

assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the balance sheet date was outstanding for the whole year. 

A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management

personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s

profit for the year ended 30 June 2008 would have decreased by R1,9 million (2007: R2,2 million). 

This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate borrowings.

Currency risk

The Group has operations located in Europe where the functional currency differs from the Group’s functional

currency. It is Group policy that such transactions should be hedged locally by entering into foreign exchange

contracts. 

The Group reduced its currency risk by negotiating favourable payment terms with foreign suppliers and by

actively managing its banking facilities for foreign debt repayments.

It is the policy of the Group to enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to cover specific foreign currency

payments and receipts within 50% to 60% of the exposure generated. The Group also enters into forward 

foreign exchange contracts to manage the risk associated with anticipated sales and purchase transactions out

to two months within 40% to 50% of the exposure generated. Basis adjustments are made to the carrying 

amounts of non-financial hedged items when the anticipated sale or purchase transaction takes place.

The Group has entered into contracts to purchase raw materials from suppliers in Europe and China with 

relevant forward foreign exchange contracts (for terms not exceeding two months) to hedge the exchange rate

risk arising from these anticipated future purchases, which are designated into cash flow hedges.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk due to changes in commodity prices. These risks are then limited by 

monitoring the market and competitors to identify price risks in advance and the necessary steps are taken to

limit the identified risk.

Derivatives

Foreign currency forward exchange contracts are measured using quoted forward exchange rates and yield

curves derived from quoted interest rates matching maturities of the contracts.
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Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Relationship R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

31. RELATED PARTIES

Transactions between the Company and its 

subsidiaries, which are related parties of 

the Company, have been eliminated on 

consolidation and are not disclosed in this 

note. Details of transactions between the 

Group and other related parties are now 

disclosed.

Trading transactions

Management fees 

Rolfes Colour Pigments International 

(Pty) Limited Subsidiary – – 2 206 668

Rolfes Chemicals (Pty) Limited Subsidiary – – 1 964 528

Rolfes Silica (Pty) Limited Subsidiary – –  – 816

Rolfes Asset Holding (Pty) Limited Subsidiary – – 196 – 

Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited 

performed certain administrative services 

for the Company, for which a management 

fee is charged, as disclosed below.

Management fees were based on an 

appropriate allocation of costs incurred 

by relevant administrative departments.

Interest received

Rolfes Colour Pigments International 

(Pty) Limited Subsidiary – – 737 (577)

Rolfes Asset Holding (Pty) Limited Subsidiary – – (768) (214)

Rolfes Chemicals (Pty) Limited Subsidiary – – 3 191 1 908

Rolfes Silica (Pty) Limited Subsidiary – – 2 521 1 348

H de Zinger – Chief Executive

of Rolfes Chemicals (Pty) Limited 94 – – –
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Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Relationship R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

31. RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Dividends received

Leather-Chem (Pty) Limited Subsidiary – – 2 000 –

Telephones

Rolfes Asset Holding (Pty) Limited Subsidiary – – 35 –

Rent of premises

Shareholder 

Jan Hemmes Family Trust and director 291 – – –

Other

Loans

Rolfes Colour Pigments International 

(Pty) Limited Subsidiary – – 7 967 1 252

Rolfes Asset Holding (Pty) Limited Subsidiary – – (7 562) (2 457)

Rolfes Chemicals (Pty) Limited Subsidiary – – 25 599 14 113

Rolfes Silica (Pty) Limited Subsidiary – – 18 697 15 627

H de Zinger – Chief Executive

of Rolfes Chemicals (Pty) Limited 325 353 – –

Trade receivables

Finco Trust Special purpose

entity (137) 7 40 50
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Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Relationship R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

31. RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Insurance

Rolfes Asset Holding (Pty) Limited Subsidiary (1 176) – – –

Rolfes Chemicals (Pty) Limited Subsidiary 1 176 – – –

Loss on insurance claimed by fellow subsidiaries 

due to explosion which occurred in the prior 

year and transferred to another subsidiary who 

owns the property.

Property, plant and equipment

Rolfes Asset Holding (Pty) Limited Subsidiary 3 344 – – –

Rolfes Chemicals (Pty) Limited Subsidiary (3 344) – – –

Asset paid for by fellow subsidiaries which was 

partly refunded by their insurance brokers, 

due to the explosion which occurred in the 

prior year.

Key personnel

Consulting fees

L Fourie – previous director of

Rolfes Silica (Pty) Limited – – 168 –

L Lynch* – newly appointed director of Rolfes

Technology Holdings Limited – – 142 –

* For the period 21 January 2008 to 31 March 2008. Permanent appointment on 1 April 2008 and 

appointed as a director of Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited on 25 June 2008.
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Relationship R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

31. RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Compensation

The remuneration of directors and other members 

of key management during the year was as follows:

Short-term benefits 5 170 3 467 2 019 1 096

The remuneration of directors and key executives is 

determined by the remuneration committee having 

regard to the performance of individuals and market 

trends.

Additions to plant and equipment

Blue Canyon Logistics CC

L Fourie Shareholder 1 767 – – –

Transport vehicles were purchased by 

the Company from Blue Canyon 

Logistics CC during November 2007. 

Mr L Fourie resigned as a director of 

Rolfes Silica on 30 August 2007.

Additions to computer equipment

Pinnacle Micro

AJ Fourie Director 674 – 674 –
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Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

32. RETIREMENT BENEFIT 
SCHEMES

The Group is a member of a defined 
contribution plan that is defined as 
post-employment benefit plans under which 
an enterprise pays fixed contributions into 
a separate entity (a fund) and will have no 
legal or constructive obligation to pay 
further contributions if the fund does not 
hold sufficient assets to pay all employee 
benefits relating to employee service in the 
current and prior periods.

Contributions made

–  Pension fund 751 650 206 72
–  Provident fund 307 415 – –

1 058 1 065 206 72

The Group is a member of the Crystal Pension Fund and the contributions to the fund are calculated as follows:

–  The Group 9,0% (including 1,5% administrative fees)
–  The employees 7,5%

The Group is also a member of the Chemical Industry National Provident Fund and the contributions to the 
fund are calculated as follows:

–  The Group 6,0%
–  The employees 6,0%

The Group is also a member of the Liberty Life Provident Fund and the contributions to the fund are calculated 
as follows:

–  The Group 7,5%
–  The employees 7,5%

In the above funds the Group has a broker and is represented by two trustees per fund that ensure the Group’s
interest in the above funds are not dismissed. The funds’ trustees invest the assets of the funds to obtain the best
results.

The total expense recognised in the income statement of R1,06 million (2007: R1,07 million) represents 
contributions payable to these plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans. As at 30 June 2008,
no contributions had not been paid over to the plans.
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Proportion Cost of
Principal Date of of shares acquisition

activity acquisition acquired R’000

33. SUBSIDIARIES ACQUIRED

Group

2008

Leather-Chem (Pty) Limited Manufacture and

distribution of pigment

and dispersion paste 5 December 

and lacquer 2007 100% 15 000

Book value

R’000

Analysis of assets and 

liabilities acquired

On acquisition the book value of the assets and liabilities acquired 

were considered to equal the fair value.

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1 921

Trade and other receivables 4 945

Inventories 5 568

Non-current assets

Plant and equipment 3 743

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables (5 657)

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities (644)

Goodwill on acquisition 5 124

15 000
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Book value
R’000

33. SUBSIDIARIES ACQUIRED (continued)

Group

2008

Fair values determined

The calculation has been finalised.

Cost of acquisiton

The cost of acquisition of R15 million was paid comprising cash of R11,25 million 

and shares worth R3,75 million.

Net outflow on acquisition

Total purchase consideration 15 000

Less: Non-cash consideration  (4 480)

Consideration paid in cash 10 520

Less: Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired (1 921)

8 599

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Goodwill, in the business combination, arose because the cost of combination included a control premium paid

to acquire 100%. In addition, the consideration paid for the combination effectively included amounts in 

relation to the benefit of expected synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the assembled

workforce of Leather-Chem (Pty) Limited. These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill as the future

economic benefit arising from them cannot be measured reliably.

The Group also acquired the customer lists and customer relationships of Leather-Chem (Pty) Limited as part of

the acquisition. These assets could not be reliably measured and separately recognised from goodwill because

they are not capable of being separated from the Group and sold, transferred, rented or exchanged, either 

individually or together with any related contracts.

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

Included in the net profit for the year is R2,1 million attributable to the additional business generated by 

Leather-Chem (Pty) Limited.

Had these business combinations been effected 1 July 2007, the revenue of the Group from continuing 

operations would have been R322,4 million. The directors of the Group consider these pro forma numbers to

represent an approximate measure of the performance of the combined group on an annualised basis and to

provide a reference point for comparison in future periods.
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33. SUBSIDIARIES ACQUIRED (continued)

The cost of acquisition was R15 million paid by way of R11,25 million cash and R3,75 million in shares, 

representing 1 109 467 shares. The R3,75 million represents the fair value of the equity instrument determined

on the 5-day weighted moving average price. The directors reviewed the assets and liabilities at acquisition and

determined it was stated at fair value and thus the intangible asset could be measured reliably.

In determining the pro forma revenue and profit of the Group had Leather-Chem (Pty) Limited been acquired at

the beginning of the current reporting period, the directors have:

• calculated depreciation and amortisation of plant and equipment acquired on the basis of the fair values 

arising in the initial accounting for the business combination rather than the carrying amounts recognised

in pre-acquisition financial statements; and

• based on borrowing costs, funding levels, credit ratings and the debt:equity position of the Group after the

business combination. 

34. SEGMENT REPORTING

The principal source of the Group’s risk and rates of return is as follows:

Business segments
For management purposes the entity is organised on an international basis in four operating divisions,

Pigments, Chemicals, Silica and other. These divisions are the basis on which the entity reports its primary 

information. Only three of the four operating divisions qualify as reportable segments namely:

• Pigments – involving the production, purchase and sale of organic and inorganic colour pigments for the

coatings, plastics, construction and ink markets; 

• Chemicals – involving the production, purchase and sale of resins and other speciality chemicals for the

coatings, plastics and construction industries; and

• Silica – involving the quarrying and processing of pure beneficiated silica for the metallurgical, filtration

and construction industries. 

Other non-reportable segments include the letting of property, plant and equipment.

Geographical segments:
The Group primarily operates in South Africa and the two geographical segments that could be identified would

have been the Johannesburg and Brits districts, but these geographical segments will not be identified due to the

proximity of the districts and the similarity of economic and political conditions.
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34. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

The following table provides financial information about the abovementioned segments:

Elimina-

tion of

intergroup

Chemicals Silica Pigments Other items Total

2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Revenue

–  External 114 231 39 651 158 852 2 164 – 314 898

–  Intercompany 125 – 628 1 249 (2 002)   –

Total revenue 114 356  39 651 159 480 3 413 (2 002)   314 898

Total cost of sales (99 998) (25 750) (120 204) – 1 902 (244 050)

Gross profit 14 358 13 901 39 276 3 413     (100) 70 848

Gross profit (%) 13 35 25 100 – 22

Other income  3 168 493 1 797 10 312 (7 664)    8 106

Operating expenses (7 232) (3 165) (17 665) (10 447) 4 662 (33 847)

Profit before interest 10 294 11 229 23 408 3 278 (3 102)   45 107

Profit before interest (%) 9 28 15 108 – 14

Interest paid (3 576) (2 572) (2 109) (2 290) 6 668 (3 879)

Interest received 318 – 5 6 509 (6 668) 164

Profit before tax 7 036 8 657 21 304 7 497 (3 102) 41 392

Tax expenses (1 916) (3 168) (5 595) (1 930) 869 (11 740)

Profit after tax 5 120 5 489 15 709 5 567 (2 233) 29 652

Profit after tax % 4 14 10 171 – 10

Equity holders of the parent 5 120 5 489 15 709 5 567 (2 233) 29 652

Total assets 73 934 38 605 104 084 202 059 (188 077)     230 605

Total liabilities 68 698 25 005   60 765   (14 176)    (22 700) 117 592

Capital expenditure incurred 2 537 8 515 4 394 4 704 – 20 150

Depreciation (376) (2 610) (711) (48) (100) (3 845)
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34. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

Elimina-

tion of

intergroup

Chemicals Silica Pigments Other items Total

2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Revenue

–  External 71 760 33 690 117 601 1 676 – 224 727

–  Intercompany – – – 1 065 (1 065)   –

Total revenue 71 760   33 690 117 601    2 741 (1 065)   224 727

Total cost of sales (60 097) (22 893) (90 086) – 1 065 (172 011)

Gross profit 11 663 10 797 27 515 2 741 – 52 716

Gross profit (%) 16 32 23 100 – 23

Other income  148 208  1 664 6 627 (6 612)    2 035

Operating expenses (3 978) (3 295) (15 205) (3 718) 2 011 (24 185)

Profit before interest 7 833 7 710      13 974 5 650   (4 601)   30 566

Profit before interest (%) 11 23 12 206 – 14

Interest paid (2 276) (1 992) (651) (2 817) 3 259 (4 477)

Interest received 3 – 578 2 762 (3 259) 84

Profit before tax 5 560 5 718 13 901 5 595 (4 601) 26 173

Tax expenses (1 730) (1 592) (3 683) (785) 667 (7 123)

Profit after tax 3 830 4 126    10 218 4 810 (3 934) 19 050

Profit after tax (%) 5 12 9 176 – 8

Equity holders of the parent 3 830 4 126 10 218 4 810 (3 934) 19 050

Total assets 34 360 33 806 64 221 145 717 (137 117)     140 987

Total liabilities 33 911 25 695   33 568 (12 373) (19 793) 61 008

Capital expenditure incurred 522 10 885 910 1 559 – 13 876

Depreciation (212) (1 365) (588) (2) (100) (2 267)

The basis of preparation of the segmental analysis has been changed as certain intercompany transactions have been 

eliminated in the current year’s reporting. The previous year was adjusted accordingly.
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Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

35.1 RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT 
BEFORE INTEREST TO CASH 
GENERATED FROM/
(UTILISED IN) OPERATIONS

Operating profit before interest 45 107 30 566 (1 835) 1 517

Adjustments for non-cash items:

–  Depreciation 3 845 2 267 10 2

–  Movement in bad debt provision 218 (148) – –

–  Movement in warranty provision 166 67 – –

–  Increase in bonus provisions 1 060 – 400 –

–  Loss/(profit) on sale of asset 442 (10) – –

–  Loss with insurance 1 277 – – –

–  Finance charges on reconstruction 

provision 8 20 – –

–  Unrealised exchange rate fluctuations (73) (211) – –

–  Foreign exchange (profit)/loss 

with currency translation (2 478) 8 – –

Change in working capital: (38 484) (10 145) 441 3

–  Increase in inventories (52 527) (12 856) – –

–  Foreign exchange profit/(loss) with 

currency translation 2 478 (8) – –

–  Increase in receivables and 

Value Added Tax (20 423) (21 893) (76) (293)

–  Decrease/(increase) in forward  

exchange contract asset 146 (36) – –

–  Increase in payables 31 842 24 648 517 296

11 088 22 414  (984) 1 522
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Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

35.2 TAX (PAID)/RECEIVED

Opening balance: SARS (2 900) (4 405) – (1)

Tax liability for the year (7 737) (4 756) – –

Closing balance: SARS 5 846 2 900 – –

Tax paid during the year (4 791) (6 261) – (1)

35.3 COST WITH ACQUISITION 
OF COMPANY

Land, property, plant and equipment  3 743 – – –

Receivables  4 945 – – –

Inventory 5 568 – – –

Accounts payable (5 657) – – –

Cash 1 921 – – –

Goodwill – 1 616 – 1 616

Minority interest – 692 – 692

10 520 2 308 – 2 308

Cash with acquisition (1 921) – – –

Net liabilities obtained 8 599 2 308 – 2 308

Issue of new shares – (2 308) – (2 308)

Cost (9 329) – – –

Cash cost (730) – – –
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SUBSIDIARIES

Percentage Country of 

Name Details of operations shareholding incorporation

Rolfes Colour Pigments The production, marketing and 100 South Africa

International (Pty) Limited supply of cost-effective colour 

pigments consisting of organic 

and inorganic products to the 

coating, printing, plastics and 

construction industry.

Rolfes Chemicals (Pty) Limited The production, purchase and sale 100 South Africa

(previously Rolfes Resins) of resins and other speciality 

chemicals for the coatings, plastics 

and construction industries.

Rolfes Silica (Pty) Limited The company is in the business of 100 South Africa

mining silica rock, refining it and 

then marketing and selling it to the 

public and traders or other 

manufacturers.

Rolfes Asset Holding (Pty) Limited The company invests in and lets 100 South Africa

out property, plant and equipment.

Leather Chem (Pty) Limited Dormant 100 South Africa

Rolfes Europe Trading (Pty) Limited Dormant 100 South Africa
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Number of Number of
shareholders % shares %

Shareholder spread

1 to 5 000 298 73,95 528 787 0,51
5 000 to 10 000 35 8,68 281 807 0,27

10 001 to 50 000 32 7,94 716 957 0,69
50 001 to 100 000 5 1,24 436 382 0,42

100 001 to 1 000 000 17 4,22 5 809 674 5,61
1 000 000 shares and over 16 3,97 95 835 860 92,50

403 100,00 103 609 467 100,00

Distribution to shareholders

Bank 1 0,25 229 151 0,22
Close corporations 7 1,74 25 985 0,03
Empowerment 2 0,50 25 727 500 24,83
Individuals 332 82,38 3 025 288 2,92
Insurance companies 1 0,25 2 000 000 1,93
Investment companies 2 0,50 1 039 898 22,81
Mutual funds 8 1,99 9 215 651 8,89
Nominees and Trusts 28 6,95 61 039 430 58,91
Other corporations 8 1,99 31 252 0,25
Pension funds 1 0,25 252 575 0,24
Private companies 13 3,23 1 022 737 4,02

403 100,00 103 609 467 100,00

Public/non-public shareholders 

Non-public shareholders 8 1,99 72 257 234 69,74

Directors and associates of the 
Company holdings 7 1,74 60 110 136 58,02

Strategic holdings (more than 10%) 1 0,25 12 147 098 11,72

Public shareholders 395 98,01 31 352 233 30,26

403 100,00 103 609 467 100,00

Beneficial shareholders holding 
3% or more

Vuwa Investments 25 727 500 24,83
Carmen Fourie Family Trust 21 431 099 20,68
Elandre Fourie Trust 12 147 098 11,72
Louis Fourie Trust 10 288 823 9,93
Investec Employee Benefits Limited 7 696 668 7,43
Badenhorst Family Trust 6 073 549 5,86
Flouride Place 601 Trust 3 601 219 3,48
Caterham Trust 3 196 605 3,09
Posthumus Family Trust 3 036 774 2,93

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDING
as at 30 June 2008
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Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited

(“the Company”) or (“the Rolfes Group”) or (“the Group”)
Registration number: 2000/002715/06
Share Code: RLF
ISIN: ZAE000096202

Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting of 
Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited will be held in the 
boardroom of Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited at 
The Summit,  269, 16th Street, Randjespark, Midrand on
Friday, 31 October 2008 at 12:00 to consider and, if
deemed fit, to pass with or without modifications, the 
following resolutions:

Special Resolution Number 1

To renew the Company’s general authority to repurchase
its own shares. 

“RESOLVED that the Company, or a subsidiary, be and
hereby is authorised, by way of general authority in terms
of Article 3A, to acquire shares issued by it subject to the
requirements of sections 85 and 89 of the Companies Act
1973, as amended, and the Listings Requirements of the
JSE Limited (“JSE”) and the Articles of Association of the
Company.

It is recorded that the Listings Requirements of the JSE
require, inter alia, that the Company or a subsidiary may
make a general acquisition of shares issued by the
Company only if: 

• the repurchase of the ordinary shares is effected
through the order book operated by the JSE trading
system and done without any prior understanding or
arrangement between the Company and the 
counterparty; 

• at any point in time the Company may only appoint
one agent to effect any repurchases on its behalf; 

• this general authority shall only be valid until the next
annual general meeting of the Company, provided
that it shall not extend beyond 15 (fifteen) months from
the date of passing of the general authority to 
repurchase shares;

• the maximum price at which the shares may be
acquired will be 10% (ten percent) above the 
weighted average market value at which such 

ordinary shares are traded on the JSE, for such 
ordinary shares for the 5 (five) business days 
immediately preceding the date on which the 
transaction is effected; 

• any such acquisition shall not, in any one financial
year, exceed 20% (twenty percent) of the Company’s
issued ordinary shares as at the passing of the 
general authority;

• the Company or its subsidiaries may not repurchase
ordinary shares during a prohibited period as defined
in paragraph 3.67 of the JSE Listings Requirements
unless a repurchase programme is in place where the
dates and quantities of securities to be traded during
the relevant period are fixed and full details of the
programme have been disclosed in a SENS
announcement prior to the commencement of the 
prohibited period;

• the repurchase may only be effected, if the 
shareholder spread requirements as set out in 
paragraph 21.3(c) of the JSE Listings Requirements
are still met after such repurchase; 

• in the event of the repurchase of derivatives, such 
repurchases must comply with  paragraphs 5.67 to
5.81 of the JSE Listings Requirements, subject to the
exemptions in paragraph 5.83 and additions in 
paragraph 5.84;

• the Company may not enter the market to proceed
with the repurchase of its shares until the Company’s
Designated Adviser has confirmed the adequacy of
the Company’s working capital for the purpose of
undertaking a repurchase of securities in writing to 
the JSE;

• when the Company has cumulatively repurchased 3%
(three percent) of the initial number of the relevant
class of securities, and for each 3% (three percent) in
aggregate of the initial number of that class acquired
thereafter, an announcement must be made containing
full details of such repurchases;

• the Board believes it to be in the best interest of Rolfes
that shareholders grant a general authority to provide
the Board with optimum flexibility to repurchase
Rolfes’ shares as and when an opportunity that is in
the best interest of the Company arises.
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The directors are of the opinion that after considering the
maximum effect of such repurchase, for a period of at
least 12 (twelve) months after the date of the notice of the
annual general meeting, that: 

• the Company and the Rolfes Group will be able to
repay its debts in the ordinary course of business;

• the consolidated assets of the Company and the Rolfes
Group fairly valued according to International
Financial Reporting Standards and on a basis 
consistent with the last financial year of the Company
ended 30 June 2008, exceed its consolidated 
liabilities; 

• the Company and the Rolfes Group have adequate
share capital and reserves;

• the Company and the Rolfes Group have sufficient
working capital for their requirements;

• the directors undertake not to effect a repurchase
unless they are satisfied that the working capital
requirements of the Company are adequate for its
requirements.”

Reason for and effect of the special resolution

The reason for and effect of this special resolution is to
obtain an authority for, and to authorise the Company
and its subsidiaries, by way of a general authority to
acquire the Company’s issued ordinary shares. It is the
intention of the directors of the Company to use such
authority should prevailing circumstances, such as market
conditions, in their opinion warrant it.

Disclosures required in terms of paragraph
11.26 of the JSE Listings Requirements 
relating to the general authority to 
repurchase the Company’s shares

Material changes 

This notice has been distributed with the annual financial
statements of the Group and no changes have therefore
occurred since the publication thereof. 

Directors’ responsibility statement

The directors of Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited as set
out on pages 4 and 5 of these financial statements:

• have considered all the statements of fact and opinion
in the annual report to which this notice is attached;

• accept, individually and collectively, full responsibility
for such statements; and

• declare that, to the best of their knowledge and belief,
such statements are correct and no material facts have
been omitted, the omission of which would make any
such statements false or misleading and that they have
made all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts.

Litigation statement

Neither Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited nor its 
subsidiaries is party to any legal or arbitration 
proceedings (including such proceedings which are 
pending or threatened), which may have or have had in
the previous 12 (twelve) months a material effect on the
Group’s financial position.

The JSE Listings Requirements require the following 
disclosures which are contained elsewhere in the annual
report.

Disclosure references in the annual report 

Directors – Pages 4 and 5

Major shareholders – Page 85 

Directors’ interests in securities – Page 25

Share capital of the Company – Page 55, note 9

Ordinary resolutions

1. “To receive, consider and adopt the annual financial
statements for the year ended 30 June 2008 together
with the reports of the auditors and directors.”

2. “To confirm the appointment of Ms L Lynch as director
of the Company.”

After completing her studies and auditing articles,
Lizette started her career at SA Oil Mills. In 1997 she
was appointed financial manager at iafrica.com. She
joined Distribution and Warehousing Network Limited
(Dawn) in 2001 as financial director in a subsidiary
and, rising through the ranks, was appointed head of
Group Internal  Audit, with a seat on the SSD board
of Dawn, and fulfilled the role of financial director in
subsidiary businesses as the need arose. Lizette joined
Rolfes in January 2008 as a consultant, was 
appointed permanently in April 2008 and appointed
as Group financial director on 25 June 2008.
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3. “To authorise the remuneration committee to 
determine the compensation of the directors for their 
services.”

4. “To grant a general authority to directors to allot and
issue the unissued ordinary shares of the Company
upon such terms and conditions as they in their sole
discretion may determine, subject to the provisions of
the Companies Act, 1973, as amended, and the
Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited (“JSE”).” 

5. “RESOLVED that the directors of the Company be and
are hereby authorised by way of a general authority
to issue all or any of the authorised but unissued 
ordinary shares of one cent each in the capital of the
company for cash, at the discretion of the directors, as
and when suitable opportunities arise, subject to the
Listings Requirements of the JSE.”

The allotment and issue of shares for cash shall be
subjected to the following limitations:

– that the securities which are the subject of the issue
for cash must be of a class already in issue, or
where this is not the case, must be limited to such
securities or rights that are convertible into a class
already in issue; 

– that this authority shall not be extended beyond the
next annual general meeting or 15 (fifteen) months
from the date of this annual general meeting,
whichever date is earlier; 

– issues in terms of this authority in any one financial
year shall not exceed 50% (fifty percent) in the
aggregate of the number of shares in the
Company’s issued share capital in issue at the date
of this notice of the annual general meeting. The
50% (fifty percent) shall also take into account the
number of ordinary shares which may be issued
and shall be based on the number of 
ordinary shares in issue, added to those that may
be issued in future (arising from the conversion of
options/convertibles) at the date of such 
application, less any  ordinary shares issued, or 
to be issued in future arising from options/
convertible ordinary shares issued during the 
current financial year, plus any ordinary shares to
to be issued pursuant to a rights issue which has
been announced which is irrevocable and fully 

underwritten, or securities issued in terms of an
acquisition which has had the final terms
announced; 

– After the Company has issued equity securities in
terms of the approved general issue for cash 
representing, on a cumulative basis within a 
financial year, 5% (five percent) or more of the
number of equity securities in issue prior to that
issue, the Company shall publish an 
announcement giving full details of the issue,
including:

> the number of securities issued; 

> the average discount to the weighted average
trading price of the securities over the 30 
(thirty) days prior to the date that the issue was
determined or agreed by the directors of the
Company; and

> the impact on net asset value, net tangible asset
value and on earnings and headline earnings
per share, shall be published at the time of any
issue representing, on a  cumulative basis 
within a financial year, 5% (five percent) or
more of the number of shares in issue, prior to
such issue; 

– in determining the price at which shares will be
issued in terms of this authority, the maximum 
discount permitted shall be 10% (ten percent) of
the weighted average traded price of such shares,
as determined over the 30-day (thirty-day) 
business period prior to the date that the price of
the issue is determined or agreed by the directors
of the Company. If no shares have been traded in
the said 30-day (thirty-day) business period, a 
ruling will be obtained from the JSE; 

– any such issue will be made to public shareholders

as defined in paragraphs 4.25 to 4.27 of the JSE

Listings Requirements and not to related parties.

As required, a majority of 75% (seventy five percent)

of the votes cast by the shareholders present or 

represented by proxy at this annual general meeting

is required for this ordinary resolution to be passed,

excluding the vote of any controlling shareholder and

the Company’s Designated Adviser.
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6. “To grant a general authority to the directors to
appoint auditors.”

To transact such other business as may be required at an
annual general meeting.

Voting and proxies

Certificated shareholders and dematerialised 
shareholders who hold shares in “own name” registration
who are unable to attend the annual general meeting and
who wish to be represented thereat, must complete the
form of proxy as attached to this annual report, in 
accordance with the instructions contained therein and
return it to the transfer secretaries to be received by no
later than 12:00 on Wednesday, 29 October 2008.

Completion of the relevant form of proxy will not preclude
such shareholder from attending and voting (in 
preference to those shareholders’ proxies) at the annual
general meeting. The instrument appointing the proxy
and the authority (if any) under which it is signed, must
reach the office of the transfer secretaries at the address
given below by not later than 12:00 on Wednesday, 
29 October 2008.

Dematerialised shareholders other than those with “own
name” registration who wish to attend the annual 
general meeting, must inform their CSDP or broker of
their intention to attend and request their CSDP or broker
to issue them with the relevant Letter of Representation to
attend the annual general meeting in person and vote, or,
if they do not wish to attend the meeting in person, but
wish to be represented thereat, provide their CSDP or
broker with their voting instructions in terms of the 
relevant custody agreement entered into between them
and their CSDP or broker in the manner and cut-off time
stipulated therein.

By order of the board

L Lynch
Company Secretary

18 September 2008

Registered address 
Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited
The Summit, 269, 16th Street, Randjespark 2107,
Midrand

Transfer secretaries 
Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited
PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107
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SHAREHOLDERS’ DIARY

Interim results published 26 February 2008

Audited results published 10 September 2008

Annual report mailed to shareholders 30 September 2008

Annual general meeting 31 October 2008

 



Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited
(Registration number 2000/002715/06

Share code: RLF
ISIN: ZAE000096202

(“the Company”) or (“the Rolfes Group”) or (“the Group”)

Only to be completed by certificated and dematerialised shareholders with “own name” registration.
If you are a dematerialised shareholder, other than with “own name” registration, do not use this form. Dematerialised shareholders
other than those with “own name” registration who wish to attend the annual general meeting, must inform their CSDP or broker of their
intention to attend and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the relevant Letter of Representation to attend the annual general
meeting in person and vote, or, if they do not wish to attend the meeting in person, but wish to be represented thereat, provide their CSDP
or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between them and their CSDP or broker in
the manner and cut-off time stipulated therein.

An ordinary shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting to be held in the Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited
boardroom at The Summit, 269, 16th Street Randjespark, Midrand, on Friday, 31 October 2008, at 12:00, is entitled to appoint a proxy
to attend, speak or vote thereat in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.

All forms of proxy must be lodged at the Company’s transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited, 
Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001, (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107), by no later than 12:00 on Wednesday, 
29 October 2008.

I/We

of (address)

being an ordinary shareholder(s) of the Company holding ordinary shares in the Company do hereby appoint

1. or failing him/her

2. or failing him/her

3.  the chairman of the annual general meeting
as my/our proxy to vote on my/our behalf at the abovementioned annual general meeting (and any adjournment thereof) to be held 
at 12:00 in the Rolfes Technology Holdings Limited boardroom at The Summit 269, 16th Street, Randjespark, Midrand, on Friday, 
31 October 2008, for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing with or without modifications, the following resolutions to be 
considered at such meeting:

Number of votes (one per share)

In favour of Against Abstain

Special resolutions
1.  General authority to repurchase shares

Ordinary resolutions
1.  Adopt the annual financial statements of the year 30 June 2008

2.  Confirm appointment of L Lynch as director

3.  Authorise the remuneration committee to determine directors’ compensation

4.  General authority for allotment of unissued shares

5.  General authority to issue shares for cash

6.  Approval to appoint auditors

Insert an “X” in the appropriate block. If no indications are given, the proxy will vote as he/she deems fit. Each member entitled to attend
and vote at the meeting may appoint one or more proxies (who need not be a member of the Company) to attend, speak and vote in
his/her stead.

Signed at on 2008

Signature

Assisted by (where applicable)

Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof.

FORM OF PROXY



NOTES TO THE 

FORM OF PROXY

1. A shareholder may insert the names of a proxy or the

names of two alternative proxies of the member’s

choice in the space provided, with or without deleting

“the chairman of the meeting”, but any such deletion

must be initialled by the shareholder. The person

whose name appears first on the proxy and which has

not been deleted shall be entitled to act as proxy to the

exclusion of those names following.

2. A shareholder is entitled to one vote on a show of

hands and, on a poll, one vote in respect of each 

ordinary share held. A shareholder’s instructions to

the proxy must be indicated by inserting the relevant

number of votes exercisable by the shareholder in the

appropriate box. Failure to comply with this will be

deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain

from voting at the annual general meeting as he/she

deems fit in respect of all the shareholder’s votes.

3. A vote given in terms of an instrument of proxy shall

be valid in relation to the annual general meeting

notwithstanding the death, insanity or other legal 

disability of the person granting it, or the revocation of

the proxy, or the transfer of the ordinary shares in

respect of which the proxy is given, unless notice as to

any of the aforementioned matters shall have been

received by the transfer secretaries or by the 

chairman of the annual general meeting before the

commencement of the annual general meeting.

4. If a shareholder does not indicate on this form that

his/her proxy is to vote in favour of or against any

resolution or to abstain from voting, or gives 

contradictory instructions, or should any further 

resolution(s) or any amendment(s) which may 

properly be put before the general meeting, be 

proposed, the proxy shall be entitled to vote as he/she

thinks fit.

5. The authority of a person signing a proxy in a 

representative capacity must be attached to the proxy

unless that authority has already been recorded with

the Company’s transfer secretary or waived by the

chairman of the annual general meeting.

6. A minor or any other person under legal incapacity

must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian as

applicable, unless the relevant documents establishing

capacity are produced or have been registered with

the transfer secretaries.

7. Where there are joint holders of ordinary shares:

• any one holder may sign the form of proxy;

• the vote(s) of the senior shareholders (for that

purpose seniority will be determined by the order

in which the names of ordinary shareholders

appear in the Company’s register) who tender a

vote (whether in person or by proxy) will be

accepted to the exclusion of the vote(s) of the

other joint shareholder(s).

8. Proxies must be lodged at or posted to the Company’s

transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services

(Proprietary) Limited, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall

Street, Johannesburg 2001 (PO Box 61051,

Marshalltown 2107), to be received not later than

12:00 on Wednesday, 29 October 2008.

9. Any alteration or correction made to this form of

proxy other than the deletion of alternatives, must be

initialled by the signatory/ies.

10.The completion and lodging of this proxy shall not

preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the

meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to

the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof.

11.The chairman of the meeting may reject or accept a

proxy that is completed other that in accordance with

these instructions, provided that he is satisfied as to the

manner in which a shareholder wishes to vote.

 



COMPANY SECRETARY AND 

REGISTERED ADDRESS

L Lynch, BCompt 

The Summit

269, 16th Street

Randjespark

Midrand 1685

(PO Box 8112, Elandsfontein 1601)

Telephone number (011) 874 0657

Facsimile number (011) 874 0784

DESIGNATED AND CORPORATE ADVISER

PSG Capital (Proprietary) Limited

Registration number 2006/015817/07

Building 8

Woodmead Estate

1 Woodmead Drive

Woodmead 2198

(PO Box 987, Parklands 2121)

Telephone number (011) 797 8400

Facsimile number (011) 797 8435

AUDITORS AND REPORTING ACCOUNTANTS

BDO Spencer Steward (Jhb) Incorporated

Practice number 905526E

13 Wellington Road

Parktown 2193

(Private Bag X60500, Houghton 2041)

Telephone number (011) 488 1700

Facsimile number (011) 488 1701

TRANSFER SECRETARIES

Computershare Investor Services 

(Proprietary) Limited

Registration number 2004/003647/07

Ground Floor

70 Marshall Street

Johannesburg 2001

(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107)

Telephone number (011) 370 7700

Facsimile number (011) 688 7716

ATTORNEYS

Van der Merwe du Toit Inc.

Registration number 2000/031065/21

Brooklyn Place

Corner Bronkhorst and Dey Streets

Brooklyn 0181

(PO Box 499, Pretoria 0001)

Telephone number (012) 452 1300

Facsimile number (012) 452 1302

COMMERCIAL BANKER

Nedbank Bank Limited

Registration number 1951/000009/06

van Riebeeck Road

Edenvale 1610

(PO Box 282, Edenvale 1609)

Telephone number (011) 723 0600

Facsimile number (011) 452 0459
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